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The mission of Enterprise Ireland is 
to accelerate Ireland’s national and
regional development by working 
with Irish companies to develop 
and compete so that they can 
grow in world markets.

To the Minister for Enterprise, Trade and Employment

In accordance with the Industrial 
Development (Enterprise Ireland) Act 1998,
Enterprise Ireland herewith presents its report
and accounts for the year ending 2003.
Patrick J Molloy Chairman

Frank Ryan Chief Executive Officer



Reflecting on the year

Enterprise Ireland Annual Report & Accounts 2003

Patrick Molloy (right) Chairman of the Board of Enterprise Ireland 
with Frank Ryan, Chief Executive Officer.
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Chairman’s
Statement

In 2003, Irish companies operated under new business challenges

that emerged from the tough trading conditions of recent years. The pressures

from low-cost producing markets such as China, Eastern Europe and the new

EU accession countries intensified. The US dollar recorded dramatic lows,

European markets had flat growth and Asia had difficult economic conditions.

Irish companies worked harder to maintain their market position and

performance levels of 2002. This brought steady results in the face of 

global volatility, a decline in purchasing and increased competition. 
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Enterprise Ireland clients achieved total overseas sales of €10.2 billion in 2003 which represents a small net growth of 0.8%. Total sales by

clients, including domestic sales, rose slightly by 0.5% to €25.1 billion. On employment, 11,207 new jobs were created by client companies,

of which 8,209 were first time jobs gains. Overall job losses were 14,413, a net decline in employment of 3,206, leaving total employment at

142,045. Our emerging and established enterprises face huge challenges. I believe they have the capability and ambition to succeed. The 

indigenous sector is critically important to the Irish economy and Enterprise Ireland is fully committed to supporting it. The sector expends

almost €17 billion in Ireland on wages, raw materials and services. 

In June last year I announced with regret that Dan Flinter had decided, following deep consideration, not to accept the Board’s offer to

renew his contract as Chief Executive Officer for a new term. Dan has made a major contribution to Ireland’s industrial development

throughout his career and as Chief Executive Officer of Enterprise Ireland over the past five years has spearheaded the implementation of

Government policy for indigenous industry.  On behalf of the Board, I thank Dan for his personal drive, enthusiasm, commitment and effec-

tiveness in establishing Enterprise Ireland and in creating a performance driven development agency which has helped to enhance greatly the

performance and reputation of indigenous industry in Ireland and internationally. 

In September, I announced the appointment of Frank Ryan as CEO to succeed Dan Flinter. Frank brings a breadth of expertise and 

knowledge that will be of great value to Irish industry and to Enterprise Ireland in its next phase of development. He will now further develop

the considerable strengths of the organisation. 

The Board of Enterprise Ireland is committed to achieving the highest standards of corporate governance, commensurate with Enterprise

Ireland’s responsibilities as a statutory agency. In so doing, the Board applies the principles of good governance, which are set out in the Code

of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies (Department of Finance, October 2001). The Board and management are, furthermore, 

committed to ensuring that all of their activities, whether covered specifically or otherwise in the Code, are governed by the ethical and other

considerations implicit within it. 

I would like to thank all Government Departments for the excellent support Enterprise Ireland received from them, including the Department

of Enterprise, Trade & Employment; the Department of Finance; the Department of Agriculture & Food; the Department of Communications,

Marine & Natural Resources and the Department of Education & Science. My thanks also extends to our other partners, including Forfás, Bord

Bia, Bord Iascaigh Mhara, FÁS, IDA Ireland, Science Foundation Ireland, Shannon Development, Údarás na Gaeltachta and other State

agencies and industry associations and the third level institutions. They continue to work tirelessly to strengthen Ireland’s economic base

and to add to the long-term prosperity of the country. 

Patrick J Molloy Chairman.



Enterprise Ireland Annual Report & Accounts 2003

Achieving Export Sales: The achievement of international success for client companies remains a primary focus of Enterprise Ireland,

especially given the increased competitive pressures of recent times. Our assistance with market entry and development strategies,

networking, buyer introductions and human resources development, helped clients build and maintain their international markets. In 2003,

overall client exports were similar to last year at €10.155 billion. The UK, our clients’ most successful market, showed €4.8 billion in

exports, an increase of 1.1%. Europe reported exports of €2.8 billion, which is also up slightly on last year, an increase of 4.7%. The 

beginnings of a recovery in the US market were evident from the €1.1 billion in exports to the Americas. This is an increase of 0.8% and shows

the beginnings of a solid recovery from 2002, when exports to the region were down 15%. Asia remained a difficult market with a drop of 7.7%

in exports. A number of sectors achieved significant increases in export sales during the year. International traded services including

digital media and eLearning increased their export sales to €761 million, an increase of 18.5% on 2002. Internet and telecommunications

technology companies also achieved an increase in export sales, up 5% to €200 million. In the food industry, the beef, pork and sheepmeat

sectors were particularly active, achieving exports of €1.9 billion, an increase of 10.4%. Exports of consumer foods rose 6% to €839 million.

Enterprise Ireland actively assisted 168 clients to enter new markets by helping them to devise and implement market entry strategies and

through our network of overseas offices and incubator facilities. There were 110 first time exporters last year and 159 new overseas offices

were established by clients in market regions as diverse as South East Asia, Southern Europe and North America.                  

Chief Executive Officer’s Report

Irish companies tackled the challenges of 2003 well, showing moderate but steady progress.

Despite slower world economic growth and a strong euro, Irish firms continued to win new contracts overseas

and grow market share. Notwithstanding this, the results show that companies involved in research, 

development, production and sale of sophisticated products and services performed best in securing new export

contracts. Increasingly, international buyers look to Ireland as a source of unique high value-added products and

services. Whether in software, biotechnology, engineering, food or traded services, the need for innovation is of

primary importance and represents a key cornerstone for future competitiveness and market success.

Successful innovation has as its foundation a deep understanding of the needs of the customer. During

2003, Irish companies faced stiff international competition and successfully traded through meeting the needs

of customers by the on-time delivery of quality products and services to increasingly demanding 

worldwide markets.

To support our clients facing these challenges, Enterprise Ireland focused on four main areas: 

1 : Achieving export sales 

2: Promoting innovation and productivity

3: Creating start-up companies

4: Driving regional enterprise
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Enterprise Ireland’s overseas and Irish offices continued to pro-actively identify international buyers with sales potential for its clients

and over 9,000 sales meetings were arranged for clients. In addition, 61 missions both at home and abroad introduced clients to top-level

buyers and 25 trade fairs opened up new market opportunities for more than 233 client companies. 

Promoting Innovation and Productivity: New business challenges have heightened the need for innovative product development to

create unique, value-added products and services. To encourage this, Enterprise Ireland supported increased client spend on Research &

Development (R&D), training and knowledge building. We invested over €40 million in support of more than 186 R&D initiatives which

included: €21 million under the Research, Technology and Innovation Competitive Fund, supporting more than 133 initiatives. Commitments

of €19.8 million in R&D Capability as part of a shared investment with 53 companies. We also established a new fund specifically aimed at

improving the competitiveness of small and medium sized companies through gains in output and productivity. The Competitiveness Fund

totalled €10 million and supported 97 individual company development projects. By April 2004, the fund was fully allocated. Enterprise Ireland

provided €11.63 million to clients for human resource development, as part of a total industry investment of €31.17 million. Our initiatives

provided clients with education, training and development opportunities to help them achieve specific outcomes.

Continued overleaf >
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Creating Start-up Companies: A key part of Enterprise Ireland’s strategy is support for the creation of innovative start-ups. Sixty-one

new high potential start-up companies were supported in 2003. Areas with great growth potential include biotechnology, functional foods,

medical devices, digital media and eLearning. 

Driving Regional Enterprise: Balancing economic development among the regions is fundamental to Ireland’s economic growth and a 

strategic objective of Enterprise Ireland. New innovative start-ups, business expansions and new spin-off enterprises from third level 

institutions or large companies are actively encouraged. To support regional development, four of the 14 venture capital funds have specific

regional mandates. In 2003, €5.5 million was allocated to incubation space, bringing total investment to €30 million to fund 14 technology

incubation centres in Institutes of Technology around the country. This has the twin objectives of commercialising research and of encouraging

entrepreneurship in key locations. 

Finance: In total, Enterprise Ireland supported 160 significant investment projects in 2003. Forty-seven of these investments were in

projects located in the Border, Midlands and West. These included R&D, start-up companies, expansions, management and human resources

and eBusiness development. Total Enterprise Ireland grant approvals to companies in 2003 were €71.72 million. This was made up of €21.5

million in share capital investment; R&D, training and other capability building support of €30.72 million; and capital and employment

support for capacity expansion of €19.5 million.

Investment: Enterprise Ireland realised €12.5 million from share sales and €1.8 million in dividends from its equity portfolio during 2003.

This was a solid return, given the continued difficult conditions in equity markets. 

Enterprise Strategy Group: In July 2003 the Tánaiste appointed the Enterprise Strategy Group (ESG) to carry out a fundamental review

of industrial policy and make recommendations on the future strategy required for Ireland as a developed economy going forward.

Enterprise Ireland commenced its engagement with the ESG in October and has continued to work closely to support the Group in the

execution of its mandate. In parallel with the Enterprise Strategy Group we have initiated our own strategic review to adapt and reposition

the organisation to meet the increasingly sophisticated requirements of our clients and we look forward to the publication of the ESGs final

review in due course. 

Since taking up my position as CEO in November 2003, I have been impressed by the commitment, dedication and professionalism of

Enterprise Ireland staff and I wish to personally thank them for their continuing hard work. As an organisation we are committed to

meeting the evolving needs of our clients at home and overseas to the best of our ability. 

Frank Ryan Chief Executive Officer
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1. Capability Building €26m

2. Capacity Building €21m

3. Equity and Venture Capital Funds €38m

4. Technology and Scientific Infrastructure €63m

5. NET Operating Costs €81m

Total  €229m

1. Client Services Network €26m

2. Overseas Office Network   
    and Client Incubators €19m

3. Regional Office Network €7m

4. Science and Innovation Support €16m

5. Corporate Services Support €13m

Total  €81m

Breakdown of
net operating costs

Enterprise Ireland
allocation of funds 

2003
1

2

4

3

5

1

2

34

5

Cost per Job

2003 COST PER JOB SUSTAINED (2003 PRICES). THE COST PER JOB IS CALCULATED BY TAKING INTO ACCOUNT ALL AGENCY EXPENDITURE ON ALL FIRMS IN THE PERIOD. 

ONLY JOBS CREATED DURING, AND SUSTAINED AT THE END OF, EACH SEVEN YEAR PERIOD ARE CREDITED IN THE CALCULATIONS.

1989/95 1990/96 1991/97 1992/98 1993/99 1994/00 1995/01 1996/02 1997/03 

15,349 15,702 14,860 15,615 15,002 11,133 9,719 10,191 8,961 

Target Outturn

Exports (gross gains) €1.1b €830m

New jobs (first time) 8,000 8,209

New start-ups 60 61

Summary key corporate targets outturn 2003
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Overall exports remained steady in 2003 at €10.155 billion. Exports of software and international services had a strong year and were

up as a group by 5.9% to €1.4 billion. International traded services including digital media and eLearning rose 18.5% to €761 million,

while Internet and telecommunications technologies were up 5.3% to €200 million. Exports of industrial products grew by 2% to

€1.5 billion, with the best sub-sector performance from engineering and construction, print and packaging areas. These exports rose

by 4%. The food sector held fairly steady for the year with an overall increase of 0.3% in exports to €6.4 billion. With Enterprise

Ireland’s assistance, 168 companies entered new markets and 110 of these clients were first time exporters. This culminated in clients 

securing more than 800 new customers, distributors or partners in export markets in 2003. In addition, a total of 159 Enterprise Ireland

client companies established an overseas market presence during the year. Through its network of 33 international offices,

Enterprise Ireland continues to assist clients to create and implement successful strategies for market entry, development and

growth. In particular, Enterprise Ireland pro-actively identified potential buyers/partners on behalf of clients. This resulted in over

9,000 sales meetings aimed at securing international sales and deepening relationships with existing customers. Enterprise

Ireland clients are also assisted through Ireland’s largest business information centre. This centre handled over 2000 enquiries in

2003, covering a wide array of secondary research on everything from markets and products to industry sectors, legal issues and

management themes.

Market Overview UK and Europe: Irish exporters continued to look to the UK and Continental Europe for most of their exports in

2003. The UK remained the strongest export market for client companies with €4.8 billion in exports, an increase of 1.1%. Exports to

the UK in the financial, healthcare and training software and services sectors increased by 9.1% to €144 million, electronics and

precision engineering grew by 7.1% and the consumer foods and fish sector exports were up 5.9%. Thirty-six companies established

an office and over 180 appointed a customer, distributor or partner in the UK market. Many clients also successfully diversified

into mainland Europe. The region saw over €2.8 billion in export sales, a net growth of 4.7%, representing the largest increase in

exports to any market. Sectors that performed particularly well include the beef, pork and sheepmeat sectors at €868 million, an

increase of 16%, and international traded services including digital media and eLearning at €259 million, an increase of 40%. Industrial

companies that previously concentrated on markets such as the US and UK began to look to European countries such as Germany,

France and Benelux. Total exports to Europe in the industrial sector rose 6.4% to €464 million, while engineering exports to Europe

rose 13% to €156 million. In total, 64 companies established a new market presence in Europe in 2003, and over 300 have appointed

new customers, distributors or partners. A particular focus in 2003 was to help client companies diversify their European markets,

with a special emphasis on helping them establish strong competitive positions in the EU accession states. A total of I8 client

companies established market presence across the EU accession states during 2003. The Americas: 2003 saw a return to growth

Supporting client companies to achieve international sales remains the

primary focus of Enterprise Ireland. Irish exporters have weathered the tough

international trading conditions of recent years well, and this experience has

left them strongly positioned to capture emerging opportunities for growth.

Companies in sectors that were hit hard, such as software and telecommunications, continue to innovate and remain focused

on international markets and are well placed to compete in the new world landscape that is emerging.



Norkom Technologies (Norkom) 

is a European leader in risk management

and compliance software used to detect

and combat different types of financial

crime for retail banking, insurance and

investment banking clients.

In 2002, 40% of the company’s turnover came from export sales. By 2003, exports had doubled to 80%. This success helped

grow turnover from €8.5 million in 2002 to €10 million in 2003. The figure is expected to rise to €14 million in 2004. * Norkom’s key

export markets are Continental Europe and North America. Ireland, the UK and Europe accounts for 55% of turnover, Canada and

the US represents 40% and the remaining 5% comes from Asia and the Middle East. * Enterprise Ireland has worked with the

company throughout its development by supporting market development strategies, R&D initiatives, networking and export market

buyer introductions. * Norkom signed a $10 million software deal with Bank of Montreal in Canada during Enterprise Ireland’s trade

mission to Canada in 2003, led by Mary Harney, TD, Tánaiste and Minister for Enterprise, Trade and Employment. The company has a

worldwide deal in place with HSBC Bank and a Europe-wide deal with National Australia Bank, which will also help Norkom expand

its sales in Asia and Australia. * Norkom was founded in 1998. It employs 70 people and by 2005 this number will rise to 100. The

company has its headquarters in Dublin and operations in the US, Canada, the UK, Belgium and Israel. Its international client list

includes premier retail banking groups in Europe and the US. 

*

*Norkom Technologies

www.norkom.com

1
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in the US market for certain sectors despite the weakening dollar and difficult trading conditions. Enterprise Ireland worked closely

with clients to maintain market position. Overall, exports to the Americas rose by 0.8% to €1.1 billion. Clients committed to the

market yielded strong returns with the technology sectors doing exceptionally well. Internet and telecommunications exports

increased by 26% to €72 million, and exports of international traded services including digital media and eLearning rose by 13%.

Consumer foods and fish did very well, growing exports by 18.2% to €13 million. Overall, areas of strongest opportunity for Irish

companies were eLearning, telecoms, medical devices and utilities. Twenty-one companies established an overseas office in the

Americas’ market, primarily in the USA. 118 companies appointed new customers, partners or distributors during the year in sectors

such as retail, healthcare and banking. Many clients who were entering the market for the first time were supported by Enterprise

Ireland in establishing a presence through channel partners. This route to market is a time and cost effective way to successfully

gain entry. Asia and Rest of World: 2003 saw difficult trading conditions continue in Asia and exports were down 8% to €0.9 billion.

However, exports of beef, pork and sheepmeat to Asia rose 73% to €52 million and construction, print and packaging exports rose

8.3% to €13 million. Many Irish companies looked for new long-term opportunities in Asia with over 280 individual companies 

visiting the region during the year. Irish companies opened 38 new offices and facilities in the Asia region in 2003, bringing the total

number to 139 and 32 clients now have operations in Australia. Enterprise Ireland’s own research and client feedback in 2003

showed the most important markets within the region were identified as North East Asia (Japan, Korea and China) and Australia. In

response, Enterprise Ireland opened a new office in Seoul, Korea and a smaller regional office in China. The regional headquarters

has also been moved from Hong Kong to Shanghai, to reflect the growing importance of the Chinese market to clients. 

Bringing Buyers To Clients A major part of Enterprise Ireland’s activities is focused on creating sales opportunities for clients with

specific buyers. It is crucial that clients make the right connections and sell to the right decision makers.  Enterprise Ireland 

pro-actively identified potential buyers for its clients and initiated meetings to support them in their sales efforts. This involved

identifying specific companies, sourcing the most relevant decision maker/influencer, qualifying their interest and connecting them

with clients. A total of 9,503 buyer meetings took place in 2003 across all sectors and markets. In Europe, including the largest

export market, the UK, Enterprise Ireland initiated in excess of 5,000 buyer meetings for clients after preliminary meetings and

research. Over 900 buyers were brought to Ireland, in group and individual programmes and over 1,130 face-to-face meetings were

organised for Irish companies with local companies in the EU accession states. Of particular note was the inward buyer visit from

Central and Eastern Europe and Russia where over 65 buyers travelled to Ireland to meet Irish companies to develop further export

opportunities. In the US, South America and Canada, Enterprise Ireland facilitated 2,292 client buyer meetings. Over 400 buyers

visited Ireland from the region, meeting with clients to source new technology or services. A total of 2,555 client/buyer meetings

were held with buyers from Asia, China, Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore, Malaysia, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates. 

Some examples of buyer / client events in 2003 included: PharmaPack Inward Buyer Programme: The pharmaceutical sector 

continues to offer great opportunities for Irish companies. Enterprise Ireland initiated a series of events bringing pharmaceutical

buyers from the US and Europe to Ireland. For example, French and Belgian buyers from major pharmaceutical companies such as

Roche and Eli Lilly were brought to Ireland to meet with potential Irish suppliers for the first time in 2003. eLearning in UK, Europe

and USA: Recognising that Irish eLearning companies need access to major corporate users of eLearning services, Enterprise

Ireland organised a series of eLearning events in Ireland profiling market opportunities. One example is the France/Benelux

eLearning event, held in conjunction with France Telecom, Europe’s largest incumbent telecoms operator, to which French corporate

users were invited. Buyers included leading companies, banks and service providers such as Renault, Crédit Lyonnais and Accor
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The annual four day event, held in Dublin’s RDS, is considered one of the most important trade fairs in Europe in

the sector. It is organised on behalf of the Crafts Council of Ireland and marketed internationally by Enterprise

Ireland. Showcase gives Irish companies a unique opportunity to display and sell their products and services

to Irish and international buyers. Enterprise Ireland’s key role in this project is to identify, qualify and target

key buyers from independent retail stores, department stores, mail order catalogues, shopping channels and

specialist gift outlets to the show. In 2003, 8,500 buyers visited the show, over 1,900 of these from international

markets. Giftware companies achieved the largest amount of sales at €15.5 million, tabletop/interiors €10.1

million and fashion and accessories €9.2 million. Over 90% of exhibitors said they opened at least one new

account, amounting to €4.4 million in new business for them.

Enterprise Ireland Annual Report & Accounts 2003

Showcase Ireland, the country’s largest international craft,

gift, fashion and interiors fair, generated  €35 million in

sales in 2003, of which €11.5 million were exports. 



Hotels. Creative Agencies Campaign: Approximately 35% of the £16 billion print and packaging spend in the UK is either

purchased or directly influenced by design and packaging agencies. Enterprise Ireland targeted this group with a marketing

campaign highlighting the capabilities of 11 key print and packaging clients. This initiative resulted in more than 50 buyers from 35

agencies visiting and viewing client operations. The new relationships formed have resulted in the opportunity for clients to quote on

more than €1 million-worth of new business. Retail Merchandise: In January 2003, Enterprise Ireland brought the Associated

Marketing Corporation (AMC), which buys retail merchandise for major department stores such as TK Maxx, to Ireland. This was the

first time the UK part of the AMC gained a remit to source products in Ireland and the visit generated €1 million-worth of business

for Irish clients. A similar introduction was made by Enterprise Ireland to the UK’s National Trust buyers, resulting in €250,000 worth

of contracts. Enterprise Ireland also instigated a visit by Somerfield, the fifth largest UK grocery retailer, to 13 Enterprise Ireland

clients in the non-food grocery sector. Targeting Global Companies: Enterprise Ireland pro-actively targets multinational 

corporations to assist clients achieve export sales. To do this, Enterprise Ireland develops and shares its contacts in global 

companies with Irish companies, to increase awareness of, and thus opportunities for, Irish companies within these corporations. An

example of this activity is Vodafone Group, the world’s leading mobile telecommunications operator and a major potential customer

and/or partner for wireless companies and software developers targeting the telecommunications industry. In 2003, 24 Irish 

companies won contracts or entered detailed negotiations with Vodafone worldwide. Enterprise Ireland also set up meetings with 20

separate Vodafone operations worldwide. Design Gallery in Atlanta: In an exciting new venture to stimulate growth in the

mainstream US markets, 10 Irish giftware/tabletop companies opened a permanent showroom in Atlanta, Georgia with the 

assistance of Enterprise Ireland. This new initiative, which is taking the form of a 2,000 square foot permanent showroom in the 

prestigious AmericasMart, will provide participating companies with a firm foothold and representation within the leading US

consumer marketplace. It will also give companies a more focused and strategic approach to the industry. The showroom will expose

client companies to thousands of buyers annually and will also provide them with an excellent branding opportunity to develop an

image for their company as a high quality source of giftware and tabletop products.

Overseas Trade Missions and Trade Fairs Trade missions and trade fairs are vital for building networks and sales leads and for 

developing relationships between Irish companies and buyers in export markets. They play a central role in Enterprise Ireland’s

overseas activities and enable senior Irish managers to meet

senior buyers and influencers. Here are some examples: First

Technology Trade Mission to Finland: Enterprise Ireland held

its first ever technology trade mission to Finland in 2003.

Finland is being targeted for new sales, especially for first or

reference sales outside of Ireland or the UK and is regarded

as having some of the world’s most advanced users and

developers of Internet and telecommunications technology.

€2.5 million in sales over the next 18 months is forecast by

companies as a result of their efforts on the mission. Trade

Mission to Canada: The financial software and photonics

trade mission to Canada provided a rare opportunity for Irish

software and photonics companies to meet key contacts at a

14+15

At the business briefing session for the trade mission to Canada, were from left
Jennifer Condon, Enterprise Ireland, Mary Harney, TD, Tánaiste and Minister for
Enterprise, Trade and Employment and Donie Cassidy, TD, Chairman of the
Committee on Enterprise and Small Business. 
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Prodieco Pharmaceutical

Components, based in Dublin, 

was established in 1962 as a general

engineering components supplier to

local Irish companies. 

However, in the late 1990s, over a relatively short period of time the majority of its multinational customers relocated to Eastern

Europe and South East Asia. Prodieco had to change its business model rapidly to survive. It focused on a sector that, at the time,

represented less than 25% of its business – medical devices and pharmaceutical components. This decision gave a whole new 

direction to the company and set it up as a top quality service provider and an exporting success. * The company now employs 60

people with 75% of sales being to export markets. Currently the UK is Prodieco’s largest market with Benelux and Germany next.

However, its growing success in Spain, Portugal and Italy will ensure that this Southern European region will be the company’s

largest export market next year. * The key to Prodieco’s success in Spain and Portugal is its local market presence, which

Enterprise Ireland helped to establish through strategic market entry guidance, office set-up support, inward buyer missions and

local networking events. The company opened an office in Madrid and this tangible commitment to the market has been the main

driver of regional sales. * David J Barker, Prodieco Managing Director, said: “Enterprise Ireland has a great ability to give key 

development support exactly when you need it. This is down to its excellent Development Advisors. For us, our Enterprise Ireland

Development Advisor is the most important person in the whole organisation. We have benefited greatly from both strategic and

tactical support – everything from guidance on managing growth and the development of strategy, to the practicalities of setting up

sensible and effective sales meeting itineraries within the target market.”

*

*Prodieco Limited

www.ppc.ie
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senior level in major Canadian banks and photonics companies. The mission was led by

An Tánaiste, Mary Harney TD, and involved over 140 one-to-one meetings between 17

Irish companies and senior potential buyers. Several networking events were also held

to showcase Irish companies in Ottawa and Toronto. Canada is becoming a strong

trading partner for Irish companies and an increasing number of them are securing

business there. Trade Mission to Poland: Michael Ahern, TD, Minister for

International Trade, led a sales and export Trade Mission to Poland on the occasion of

President McAleese’s visit there in June. More than 50 Irish companies from a range of industrial sectors took part and Enterprise

Ireland organised more than 170 individual company meetings for the participants. Central events in the mission were a VIP trade

breakfast for over 200 business people addressed by President McAleese, and a trade dinner for 150 business people addressed by

the Minister. The event was used to promote Ireland’s deepening trade ties with Poland by providing content and 

interviews for leading Irish companies on CNBCs business channel and by leveraging local media interest arising from the

President’s presence in the run-up to the Polish referendum on EU entry. Trade missions to the Czech Republic and Hungary, 

involving a number of industrial sectors also took place in 2003. Enterprise Ireland also organised 25 Trade Fairs in 2003 to 

different markets across diverse sectors, from mobile telecommunications to packaging. Over 230 clients participated on group

stands organised by Enterprise Ireland. Some examples are: BioSquare: A number of events were organised to develop networks and

strategic partners in biotechnology and lifesciences such as BioVision and BioSquare in Lyon. Through these events, 10 Irish 

companies gained a rare opportunity to engage in face-to-face business discussions with senior executives from the world’s major

pharmaceutical and biotech companies, including Roche, Aventis, Johnson & Johnson, GlaxoSmithKline and Pfizer as well as smaller

companies and venture capitalists. US Medical Device and Manufacturing: MD&M, the world’s largest medical device original

equipment manufacturers (OEM) trade fair, took place in New York and Anaheim in 2003. This is a key networking and business event

for medical device sub-supply companies, providing an opportunity to gain contract manufacturing opportunities from medical

device OEM’s based in US. Through these shows, clients can identify material suppliers, partners and product/technology acquisi-

tion opportunities. In addition MD&M events also provide a valuable opportunity for Irish companies to benchmark their levels of

creativity and technology against the expectations of the industry and to gather market intelligence first hand. Telecom World,

Geneva: Telecom World, which takes place every four years, is acknowledged by industry as the world’s most influential 

telecommunications event and attracts attendance of industry leaders at the highest level of the front-ranked global 

telecommunications market. It is an unrivalled forum at which over 1,000 international exhibitors showcase their technologies to over

200,000 attendees. There are in excess of 20 national pavilions at the show. On the Irish National Stand organised by Enterprise

Ireland, sixteen Irish companies presented their capabilities and significant international achievements to the world’s telecoms

companies. The show was a pivotal opportunity for Irish companies to meet with new and existing customers and to lay the 

foundations for future business.

Management Development in Marketing, Selling and Strategy Skills Assisting clients on how to operate and sell in overseas

markets is crucial, whether they are first time exporters or more experienced exporters. Enterprise Ireland has developed a number

of new initiatives to strengthen management capability in marketing and selling skills. Here are some examples: First Flight’ for New

Exporters:This is designed to assist first-time exporters in a systematic way with their export development needs. The aim is to save

companies time and expense, and to help them manage the risk associated with entering new markets. A total of 60 companies

16+17

Michael Ahern, TD,
Minister for
International Trade
addressing over 50
client companies
participating on the
Trade Mission to
Poland. 



Lake Communications, a leading

supplier of wireless and wired

communications products for

residential and small office

customers since 1991…

Lake Communications, a leading supplier of wireless and wired communications products for residential and small office

customers since 1991, is based in Dublin and has 91 employees. * The company has had great success in extending its export

markets out of Europe and into Australia & the U.S. Over the last three years, Lake has beaten tough international competition to

achieve a 35% market share of the Australian market, worth AUS$9 million. This is now Lake’s second largest market after the UK.

* The key to the company’s success lies in its ability to attract leading infrastructure partners in export markets. Its UK partner,

BT, gave Lake strong international credibility, as did Belgacom and Telecom Italia. In Australia, Lake’s market entry strategy was to

partner with the then Telstra subsidiary, Commander Communications, which had excellent retail sales channels. * Enterprise

Ireland supported Lake at the early stages with in-depth market research that provided the essential first step into the market and

identified key market players, local legal and regulatory conditions, key contacts and networking opportunities. * The geographic

size of Australia required enhanced remote access management features on Lake’s products which has helped create the next 

generation of its product. The company also showed market commitment by posting three staff members in Commander’s offices in

Melbourne and Adelaide. * Enterprise Ireland is working closely with Lake on market research and contact building in its latest

target market, the US. The company’s new product launch there has just taken place.

*

*Lake Communications

3

www.lakecommunications.com
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attended eight interactive workshops held throughout Ireland. These workshops identified the key aspects of exporting and 

introduced clients to Enterprise Ireland’s services designed for first time exporters. On completing the process, each company has

an export development plan to address their specific needs and effective solutions to meet those needs. Marketing Skills for

Profitable Export Growth (MSPEG): MSPEG assists Enterprise Ireland client companies to develop an export focused strategic

marketing plan linked to a comprehensive business plan. The programme has two main measurable outputs: the development of a

strategic marketing plan, and an increase in profitable sales in both domestic and international markets. Since its launch, 92 

companies have participated in the programme. Selling to the European Buyer: Developed from Enterprise Ireland’s European

Opportunities 2003 Strategy and feedback in the marketplace, this sales and presentation skills programme is designed to develop

and assist industrial products companies that are targeting Europe as part of their export growth plans. Aimed at managers with

responsibility for developing export business, the programme focuses on building cultural awareness and appropriate communications,

presentation and selling skills. It emphasises the critical importance of good preparation and gaining a deep advanced knowledge of

the decision maker’s business - its current pressures, its competitors, its focus and its future plans. An understanding of the cultural

differences in attitude, behaviour and communications is vital. Selling Software Internationally: A study commissioned by

Enterprise Ireland and the Irish Software Association showed that while there is world-class excellence in Irish software products

and services, a gap exists in the selling skills area. Enterprise Ireland initiated the first ever CEO Sales STAR Programme (Sales

Strategies & Tactics to Accelerate Revenues). Twenty CEOs of Irish software companies have completed the programme. On completion,

Enterprise Ireland continues to work with participants to implement a sales culture within their companies. Awareness of

Opportunities in Central and Eastern Europe: In order to highlight the business opportunities in Central and Eastern Europe, briefing

seminars were held in four regions – Dublin, Athlone, Limerick and Cork. Over 80 Enterprise Ireland clients attended and were briefed

on the opportunities of doing business in these markets and the implications for business on EU accession. Start-ups Selling

Software into Europe: Three workshops were held in Europe specifically to help high potential start-ups in the software industry to

sell into European markets. Twenty-seven start-ups participated altogether and the sessions covered: selling into large accounts;

setting up a channel and direct or indirect sales models. Each session focused on a particular market: France/Benelux, Germany and

Southern Europe. World Class Sales and Marketing: In response to the growing need for international sales and marketing skills

in Irish companies looking to compete globally, Enterprise Ireland and the Trinity College School of Business Studies have introduced

a Master of Science in International Business. It is aimed at suitably qualified managers, particularly those in the small and medium

industry sectors. The aim of this two-year, part-time graduate programme is to develop managerial competencies on all issues

related to competitive success in the international business environment, with a particular emphasis on international marketing. The

programme is run in collaboration with the International Institute for Management Development in Switzerland and 30 SMEs enrolled

executives on this programme in 2003. True Marketing: Enterprise Ireland, Bord Bia and the Irish Exporters Association launched

the True Marketing Programme, aimed at developing speciality food and drink exports to the UK. This market in the UK is valued at

€5.8 billion and Irish companies currently have a very small share of it. The 18 participating companies received expert guidance on

branding, costing, logistics and market entry strategies. Transform – Print and Packaging: The Transform programme, a new

initiative, was developed by Enterprise Ireland in conjunction with the Irish Management Institute to assist print and packaging

companies respond to the competitive marketplace. It was designed to focus on strategic planning and change management.

The programme consisted of practical workshops supported by one-to-one in-house business counselling to develop a strategic

growth plan. 
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2002

2003

New export sales (gross gains)

Gross losses

Net growth

Exports*

€10.072 billion

€10.155 billion

+ €833 billion

– €750 billion

+ 0.8%

2002 2003 Growth 2002-2003 

Britain & Northern Ireland 4,701 4,754 1.1% 

Continental Europe 2,657 2,783 4.7% 

Americas 1,126 1,135 0.8% 

Asia/Rest of World 1,020 941 -7.7% 

Total 9,504 9,613 1.1% 

Exports 2003 by Main Market Area* (€ million)

Sector 2002 Exports Gross Gains Gross Losses 2003 Exports Net Growth 

Software & International Services 1,294 237 -161 1,370 5.9% 

Industrial Products 1,512 195 -165 1,542 2.0% 

Consumer/Timber 906 51 -93 864 -4.6% 

Food 6,360 350 -331 6,379 0.3% 

Total 10,072 833 -750 10,155 0.8% 

Client Exports 2003 Gains and Losses (€ million)

SOURCE: FORFÁS / ENTERPRISE IRELAND ANNUAL BUSINESS SURVEY

2002 2003 Growth 2002-2003 

Software & International Services 1,294 1,370 5.9% 

Industrial Products 1,512 1,542 2.0% 

Consumer/Timber 906 864 -4.6% 

Food 6,360 6,379 0.3% 

Total 10,072 10,155 0.8% 

Exports 2003 by Major Sector (€ million)

* Excludes distribution sales

* Excludes sales recorded by the Irish Dairy Board.
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Knowledge sharing and networking Learning about best practice techniques, latest market developments and new product 

development is very important to the success of Enterprise Ireland client companies. Enterprise Ireland strives to identify the right

international networking opportunities for its clients. Here are some examples: European Market Expert Programme: In 2003, this

initiative appointed 80 market experts across Europe to guide clients on market entry and development strategies and to help them

to gain access to key decision makers. They also make clients aware of possible pitfalls and how to avoid them. This guidance helped

130 client companies to improve their chances of success and considerably shorten their time to market. Biotechnology

Networking: Networking and partnering is especially important in the lifesciences area because of the scale of the development

costs of the end product. Very often it is the result of a combination of companies working together and providing different elements

to the end product. The lifesciences sector also operates on a global scale so it is essential for Irish companies to be near their buyers

through their partners and through the help of Enterprise Ireland’s overseas network. BioLink USA-Ireland is a networking body

facilitated by Enterprise Ireland. It brings together highly qualified Irish expatriates working across the US including scientists,

engineers, entrepreneurs and researchers in biotechnology. The network furthers knowledge transfer, sales opportunities and strategic

advice. The success of this initiative in the US has led Enterprise Ireland to establish a similar networking organisation in the UK.

This is designed to link high-qualified Irish expatriates in the UK and to transfer knowledge, advice and sales routes to the home-

based biotechnology industry. To date, about 200 expatriates have been identified and events have been held in London, Edinburgh

and Cambridge. BioConnect, the informal, voluntary networking organisation facilitated by Enterprise Ireland, also continued to

stimulate business opportunities in biotechnology. This network brings academics, business executives and venture capitalists

together on campuses. This is an industry-led network founded in 2000 and facilitated by Enterprise Ireland’s Biotechnology

Directorate (formerly BioResearch Ireland). IT for Lifesciences Networking: Enterprise Ireland played a formative role in 

establishing the IT for Lifesciences Networking Group to provide companies targeting the global pharmaceutical market with the

opportunity to discuss industry related issues. As this market is tightly regulated by the FDA, software with proven compliance

capability has strong demand. This group has helped its members through its meetings, networking events and online discussion

forum, to share knowledge and ideas and co-operate in targeting new customers both in the crucial US market and in other 

emerging markets. There are now over 20 companies in the Group. First UK Software Summit: To help Irish software providers

improve their UK sales efforts during difficult economic trading conditions, Enterprise Ireland organised the first UK software

summit. This involved UK practitioners and industry influencers and 100 delegates from 77 companies. The one-day event was aimed

at building Irish companies’ awareness of opportunities in the UK IT market through four sectorally focused presentations. They

covered the key areas of financial services, telecommunications, the public sector and SMEs. Banking Software Seminars:

Enterprise Ireland organised a series of banking and software seminars in Europe and the US to generate opportunities for Irish

companies with key financial institutions in these regions. For instance, the Polish seminar was held with the co-operation of the

Polish Banking Association in Warsaw, in February 2003. Five Irish clients addressed 35 key decision makers representing Poland’s 15

leading banks and five system integrators. One-to-one meetings followed this. Client feedback on this initiative was very positive and

Enterprise Ireland subsequently repeated the event in Prague and Bucharest. Design for Competitive Advantage: During 2003,

Enterprise Ireland initiated a series of events on branding. This is a new initiative for Enterprise Ireland and represents a response 

to the growing importance in international business of branding and coherent visual communication. Over 30 specific brand 

development exercises across the industrial products area and a series of regional seminars was held. This programme culminated

in the Design for Competitive Advantage Conference in November, at which a panel of international brand development specialists

presented on best international practice to an audience of 150 client companies.
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In October 2003, 
President Mary McAleese led the 
Enterprise Ireland trade mission 
to China – the largest trade 
mission ever to leave Ireland. 



Ireland
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The visit was a huge success with well over €40 million-worth

of new business contracts being signed by our clients with

organisations from Asia’s second largest economy.

One of Enterprise Ireland’s core activities is to assist our

clients in building their export capabilities. More than 145

executives from 82 companies took part in this mission,

taking in networking events in Hong Kong, Beijing, 

Shenyang and Shanghai.

Largest ever trade mission –

led by President McAleese to China.

In October 2003, President Mary McAleese led the Enterprise Ireland trade mission to China, the largest trade mission ever to leave Ireland.

Pudong, Shanghai © Mr Zheng Xian Zhang.



The participation of key decision makers from these companies and third

level institutions played a crucial role in furthering client export, networking

and knowledge sharing objectives of Enterprise Ireland. Eleven of these

companies signed or announced contracts, joint ventures and co-operation

agreements with local Chinese partners during the visit. Deals ranged from

distribution agreements, R&D contracts, sales contracts and the opening

of new facilities for local market sales and marketing, R&D and 

manufacturing. In addition, this mission also helped foster the growing

academic connections between China and Ireland. Six third level institutions took part, strengthening their

knowledge sharing connections with local academic institutions and companies in research and in facilitating

student programmes. These advances represent major achievements by client companies and academic 

institutions at a crucial stage in China’s economic development and play a strong part in strengthening ties

and goodwill between our two countries. With a GDP of US$1,315 billion in 2002 and a growth rate of 8%, China

offers a wealth of opportunity for Irish business and academic organisations. Client feedback was excellent. It

showed that combining Enterprise Ireland’s trade mission with the presidential visit gave them great credibility

and opportunities for closing deals and creating new business. 
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Minister Noel Dempsey, TD, Minister of State,
Department of Education & Science and Wang Ying, 
Vice Mayor of Shenyang City at the official opening
ceremony of Glen Dimplex’s factory in Shenyang, China.  

President McAleese addresses 450 Enterprise Ireland
clients with their Chinese partners at the Enterprise
Ireland Business Breakfast, Shanghai.

Participants came from all over Ireland and ranged from 

IT and banking to manufacturing, consulting and educational

services organisations.
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Innovation 
and Productivity



Fostering a culture of R&D Enterprise Ireland’s aim is to foster a culture of R&D in Ireland by encouraging companies to increase their spend

on R&D, so that in the long-run, they will have products, services and processes that will help them compete more effectively in the global

marketplace. Currently, Ireland’s spend on R&D lies below the EU average of 1.8% of GDP at 1.4%. R&D Awareness: Enterprise Ireland

launched an R&D Awareness campaign to make best use of the resources available for R&D support by the Government through the National

Development Plan. Enterprise Ireland targeted companies with either no R&D activity, i.e. those spending less than €64,000 a year on R&D,

or those companies with a low to medium R&D spend, i.e. between €64,000 and €128,000 a year. Under the pilot initiative, Enterprise

Ireland partnered with private consultancies to deliver seminars and one-to-one strategy sessions with companies. Of the 194 companies that

applied for the services of R&D consultants, 167 completed consultancy sessions which identified their innovation needs, strategies and, in

many cases, new initiatives. Ninety-six of these companies submitted applications for R&D support. The campaign will be continued in 2004

following this success. Technology Audit: To encourage clients to examine how innovative their products and processes are, Enterprise

Ireland continued its technology audit facility. Enterprise Ireland’s team of technology experts works with clients to gather an overview of

how efficiently the company operates in all areas, from manufacturing to production, to new product development. Once issues are 

identified, Enterprise Ireland works with the companies to develop a strategy for improvement with quantifiable objectives for the company

to work towards. This addresses the risks involved and the resources needed for the plan. Enterprise Ireland then helps with the 

implementation of the plan and guides clients through it. Enterprise Ireland also supports the Innovation Relay Centre, which is one of 68

centres across 31 European countries designed to further technology licensing and partnerships between businesses in Europe. This role was

renewed in 2003, with the award of the contract for the next four years. Managing an Innovative Future: Over 480 companies have 

participated to date in Enterprise Ireland’s €7 million Innovation Management Initiative, which provides companies with training in 

innovation and R&D management. It is designed to achieve value-added R&D in companies by capturing the creative potential of employees.

There are nine programmes to cater for the different levels of R&D activity that companies have, and to allow participants to progress

from introductory to advanced learning. It helps them to identify and develop high potential R&D projects and to nurture a culture of 

innovation and R&D in their companies.  eBusiness: Enterprise Ireland, supported by the Information Society Fund, launched an 

initiative called eBit to assist companies to gain competitive advantage through the use of information technology. This gave clients of

Enterprise Ireland, Shannon Development, the IDA and Údarás na Gaeltachta free consultancy or grant assistance to formulate an IT and

eBusiness strategy. Some 110 companies received one-day consultancy and 48 received multi-day consultancy. In addition an intensive

educational awareness campaign was launched and traffic to the openup.ie site has now increased to over 4,500 visits per week. Strategic

Development Plan for the Irish Dairy Processing Sector: In 2003, the Strategic Development Plan for the Irish Dairy Processing Sector, 
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Productivity and innovation-led activities are core ingredients for sustainable

business growth and economic development. Encouraging these activities is

central to Enterprise Ireland’s strategy. 

Enterprise Ireland focuses on helping clients compete in international markets against market leaders and against low-cost

operators from EU accession countries, Eastern Europe and Asia. To compete successfully, Irish companies need to develop

their R&D capabilities and create strong intellectual property in their core business. This focus impacts on key areas relating 

to productivity and innovation.



Glanbia plc has always placed a 

high priority on R&D to develop

innovation and productivity and

keep the company’s strong 

international market position.

Glanbia plc, the international dairy, consumer foods and nutritional products company, has always placed a high priority on

R&D to develop innovation and productivity and keep the company’s strong international market position. The company’s turnover in

2003 was €2.04 billion. Glanbia is the largest cheese producer in the UK and Ireland, the fourth largest in the US and the largest pizza

cheese producer in Europe. * The company’s latest R&D initiative is its planned creation of a purpose-built, world-class R&D 

facility in Kilkenny, which was approved in 2003 and supported by Enterprise Ireland. The new facility will focus on Glanbia’s inter-

national nutritional ingredients activities, particularly functional foods. These activities are concentrated within a separate business

unit, Glanbia Nutritionals, which operates in both the US and Europe. * Functional foods provide health benefits beyond basic

nutrition such as Glanbia’s probiotic drink, Everybody. Glanbia wants to build on the success it has achieved in the US with functional

foods, through new product development and European expansion. * The total investment is €15 million over the next five years in

this new research facility. The facility will concentrate on developing products and ingredients related to heart health, gut health

(probiotic products) and infant nutrition and oral health. * The new facility will employ 30 highly qualified technical staff and

develop greater links between third level colleges and Irish biotechnology companies. It is an important strategic development for

both Glanbia and Enterprise Ireland and will help to grow this high potential sector in Ireland. * The Glanbia group was formed in

1997 after a merger between Avonmore and Waterford. It employs 5,000 worldwide, 3,300 in Ireland, and has operations in Ireland, the

UK and the US. 

*

* Glanbia plc  

www.glanbia.com
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a report jointly commissioned by Enterprise Ireland, the Department of Agriculture and industry participants, was completed. This report

recommended that the Irish dairy industry doubles its spend on R&D activity in order to match spending by the world’s leading dairy 

companies. It also recommended that the focus of increased spending be on value-added products, especially given the increasing 

competition from European producers. These technologically advanced products should be targeted at the prepared consumer foods, ready

meals and the growing functional foods sectors. The report also recommended improvements to the cost base of Irish dairy companies to

improve competitiveness and rationalisation of the industry.  

Commercialising research  A key element of Enterprise Ireland’s strategy to boost innovation is to strengthen the links between third level

college researchers and the business community. This is crucial for making leading-edge technology and advice available to clients. Clients

and the institutions can jointly commercialise that knowledge by creating viable products and companies. These links further new product

development in established companies and encourage innovative start-ups.  University Collaboration: The Commercialisation Fund, a

range of supports designed to further the commercial exploitation of knowledge, was restructured in 2003. Researchers can now gain support

through a Proof of Concept Phase to test out the feasibility of their idea, or a Technology Development Phase to put significant resources

behind applied research to bring their idea to a marketable stage. The projects supported reflected priority areas: ICT, lifesciences, advanced

manufacturing and photonics. Over €16.9 million was committed in 2003 to 116 high quality applied research initiatives in areas of emerging

technologies of relevance to companies. A further €11.5 million was invested in university and other third level groups working with

companies to deliver particular applied research initiatives and other transfers of high technology knowledge requested by companies. In the

Informatics area, projects were supported in digital media and eLearning, content management, eBusiness and bioinformatics. Enterprise

Ireland also has devoted staff on campus with sectoral knowledge and expertise in licensing and patenting to help further 

commercialisation of knowledge. This strengthens the link between Enterprise Ireland and third level institutions. One example is Enterprise

Ireland’s Biotechnology Directorate which works with lifesciences researchers in 12 R&D centres located in Universities, Institutes of

Technology and Teagasc, to identify, manage, develop and commercialise intellectual property in partnership with these institutions and

industry. The biotechnology team also actively markets available intellectual property to industry. Using Emerging Technologies:

Enterprise Ireland clients made huge commercial strides in the use of emerging technologies, through our help with networking and investi-

gation of best practice. Enterprise Ireland ran four Technology Road Maps in 2003 to bring world leaders in strategically important sectors to

Ireland. These experts brought to clients the latest knowledge on industry trends, opportunities and threats from emerging technologies,

and ideas on positioning products to achieve sales as markets change. Leading names from IBM, Sun and HP Labs gave seminars and one-

to-one sessions with clusters of client companies. Enterprise Ireland specialists are continually working with clients to identify

commercial opportunities for the exploitation of nanotechnology across all sectors. This technology controls and manipulates matter on an

atomic scale and can be applied to a vast range of materials. For example, it can make plastic stronger but lighter and can also allow concrete

to move and expand without cracking. Nanotechnology is crucially important to the development of world-class products in Ireland. 

Underpinning Enterprise Ireland’s commitment to the commercialisation of this emerging technology, an investment of €3.35 million was

made in nano-technology through the Commercialisation Fund. In addition, to further promote the development of nanotechnology in Ireland,

Enterprise Ireland, as part of an Irish Council for Science, Technology and Innovation expert panel on nanotechnology, developed a national

policy for Ireland on how the technology can be exploited to derive significant economic benefits. Enterprise Ireland is also helping to roll out

photonics technology to existing electronics companies as it is a crucial development affecting the sector. In 2003, Enterprise Ireland facilitated

the set-up of the Irish Photonics Association to improve the links between Irish photonics and related companies with partners involved in

the industry such as the IDA and Science Foundation Ireland. This included the setting up of a dedicated photonics website. 
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A long-term commitment to 

continuous investment in R&D has

paid off for furniture manufacturing

company, John E Coyle Ltd. 

This family owned business was established in 1936 and currently employs 130 people in Monaghan. * Over the past eight

years, John E Coyle has invested in the region of €8 million in new equipment. This has also led the company to invest in training and

development of management and staff and new product development. * Increased automation and production efficiencies brought

about through improved plant, machinery, software and training, helped the company to sell highly flexible products cost efficiently

and move into just-in-time production. This enabled the company to compete effectively against increasing competition from low-

cost producers in Eastern Europe. * Enterprise Ireland has supported the company throughout, providing training and development,

market intelligence, financial assistance and networking both in Ireland and overseas. Its trade fairs and buyer missions highlighted

new product trends and international competitor activity. Company turnover in 2003 alone was €12.5 million, despite difficult

currency fluctuations involving the UK market, where the company generates 90% of its business. * The company was well

positioned to react to changing consumer demand, when furniture evolved from being a functional product to being a necessary

fashion item with shorter product life cycles. The company moved away from the production of traditional dark wood furniture and

into more contemporary, light wood product designs. The new product lines, Connexions, accounted for 70% of sales in 2003. This is

expected to increase to 85% in 2004.

*

*John E Coyle Ltd

www.coylefurniture.com
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Collaborative Research: Irish organisations won over €50 million in EU funding under the first round of the EU Sixth Framework Programme

for Research and Technological Development 2002-2006 (FP6), Europe’s comprehensive programme for supporting collaborative R&D 

initiatives between companies and research organisations across Europe. Enterprise Ireland is heavily involved in promoting FP6 and its

staff works closely with companies and researchers proposing initiatives for the fund. It offers networking and learning opportunities to Irish

companies as well as excellent new product development funding sources. Enterprise Ireland facilitates clients looking for ideas and new

uses of technology from leading edge research and technology organisations all over the world such as the 58 Fraunhofer Institutes in

Germany, a network of technological research institutions that focuses on industry-led initiatives. Our aim is to facilitate the transfer of

leading edge knowledge to Irish companies. 

Benchmarking Against Global Best Practice  The increasing competitive pressures of the marketplace have made it crucially important for

Irish companies to rate themselves against their peers and global best practice. Enterprise Ireland’s benchmarking programme offers

clients an opportunity to compare their business with others. It also suggests how these companies can tackle their weak areas, showing

them how to improve in areas such as new product development, management skills training, research investment, sales and marketing help,

automation and strategic planning. Currently 400 companies are participating in the programme. In 2003, this programme showed a huge

gap between the top and bottom performing Irish companies across sectors, with those in the top quartile spending seven times more on

R&D than bottom quartile companies. Enterprise Ireland also initiated a benchmarking study in the pork processing sector. The project

was carried out by the Danish Meat and Research Institute, the world leaders in this area, and supported by Irish Primary Processors. The

study’s objectives were to establish the effectiveness of current operations as compared to best international practice and helped form the

basis of structural improvements in the sector that will encourage scaling up and more efficient processes. In addition, training in strategic

development issues for SMEs was also completed.  

Food

Consumer and Timber

Industrial

International Services

All sectors average

Productivity Growth
(Net value-added per employee)

-5.0%

5.8%

11.7%

8.3%

3.6%

SOURCE: FORFÁS / ENTERPRISE IRELAND ANNUAL BUSINESS SURVEY
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Galileo: Europe’s future Satellite Navigation System, comprising a constellation of 30 satellites in Earth orbit at 23,000
kilometres altitude. Irish companies are preparing to bid for development contracts. (C)  ESA - J. Huart 
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Enterprise Ireland manages Ireland’s participation in

the ESA on behalf of the Department of Enterprise,

Trade and Employment. This role enables us to assist

Irish companies to identify and exploit opportunities in the

space and aerospace markets. Companies that secured ESA

contracts in 2003 include BetaTHERM Ltd, which offers a range of

NTC thermistors (temperature sensors) for satellite applications,

Mapflow, which provides technology to enable real-time location-based

services for internet-enabled devices, and Aircraft Management

Technologies Ltd (AMT), which has developed a satcom enabled in-flight

aircraft reporting tool. BetaTHERM’s contract is to develop a range of

NTC thermistors (gold leadless chips, and leaded thermistors) for high

reliability (Hi-Rel) space applications. AMT has been contracted to

develop technology to enable its Inflight Reporting Tool to allow the flight

crew report on the status of the aircraft during flight. Mapflow’s contract is

to investigate the feasibility of using advanced satellite-positioning technology

in support of road tolling applications. Apart from the funding benefits, working with

the ESA means these companies reach the world’s highest technology standards. This

gives them excellent product development opportunities and enormous respect and 

credibility in the world marketplace. This success is a great boost to Irish technology

companies involved in new product development. Other successful companies were in

software, electronics, photonics and telecommunications system engineering. The

projects are related to the high profile European Space Science Missions and the European

Satellite Navigation Development Programme, Galileo. 
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Nine of these companies were first time ESA contractors. This success reflects Enterprise

Ireland’s focus on helping to build and grow highly innovative companies in industries that

offer enormous growth potential. 



C&F Tooling… took on a new

business direction in response 

to changes in the needs of its

customers and changes in its

competitive marketplace. 

C&F Tooling (C&F), a Galway manufacturer and supplier of press tools and specialised sheet metal components, took on a new

business direction in response to changes in the needs of its customers and changes in its competitive marketplace. * This

required the company to adopt innovative new business strategies, and invest in R&D. As a result, it has not only retained its key

customer base but has also expanded its product and services.  Turnover in 2003 was €26 million, up from €18 million in 2002. * C&F

was established in 1988 as a manufacturer and sub-supplier of press tools. Its key customers began to demand a one-stop-shop 

facility where they could deal with one supplier for the entire finished product, instead of several sub-suppliers. C&F increased its

capacity and skills base to become this key supplier. It became a company that offers customers a highly flexible, rapid response

system of product design, development, manufacture and delivery. * C&F also opened a manufacturing plant in the Czech Republic

to support a number of existing customers who had moved to Central Europe in pursuit of cheaper labour costs. C&F’s core 

engineering and design functions were retained in its Galway headquarters. The company’s current development plan focuses on

expanding the Galway R&D capabilities into a world class facility. It currently employs 220 people. * Enterprise Ireland supported

C&F throughout its development with market and buyer initiatives, trade missions, e-business assistance and R&D. C&F is currently

expanding into the Philippines and is due to open its new facility there in August 2004.

*

*C&F Tooling

www.cftooling.ie
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In May 2003, Enterprise Ireland and the Minister of State Noel Treacy

TD, led a technology & innovation mission focused on the functional

foods sector, to Japan. The mission was a strategic part of Enterprise

Ireland’s drive to encourage the development and production of value

added innovative food products by Irish companies. The functional

foods sector includes foods that provide a natural supplementary

health or performance benefit beyond basic nutrition, such as fibre

enriched fruit juices, vitamin enriched confectionery, live-cultured

yoghurts and cholesterol-lowering margarine. Functional Foods are primarily targeted at common consumer

health concerns such as gut and heart health, cancer and obesity as well as the energy and sports nutritional

market. It is crucial that Irish food manufacturers develop this high priority growth sector. Depending on 

definition, the global market for functional foods is estimated at $14 billion and growth rates are running at more

than 10%. This compares to growth rates of between 1% and 1.5% for much of the traditional food sector. This

also comes at a time when prices for commodities are falling in the face of CAP reform and WTO agreements.

The aim of this technology & innovation mission was to further the development of this sector in Ireland by

enabling key decision makers in the Irish food industry to visit and learn from the world’s founder and leading

producer of functional foods, Japan. Irish participants in the mission included 12 companies, trade association’s

& research/academic institutions. The group met with a number of Japan’s leading functional food research 

institutions and companies to see first hand how these innovative companies and institutions use technology to

create unique commercial products and evaluate market trends. This technology and innovation mission also

enabled participants to understand how the Japanese government and industry collaborated to successfully

develop the sector together and to emulate this success back in Ireland. This covered areas such as 

investment and growth strategies, commercialisation of research and technology, identification of routes to

market and marketing strategies. The

networking opportunities in Japan also

provided both Irish and Japanese participants

future joint venture alliances and collaborative

projects. Functional foods, a sub-sector of the

nutritional food market worth about $130

billion worldwide, is a priority development

sector for the Government and Enterprise

Ireland.

Functional Foods – Technology 
& Innovation Mission to Japan

At a networking session between Irish participants,
Japanese functional food companies and research 
institutions were, from left: Conor Buckley, General
Manager Business Development, Lakeland Dairies; Norio
Ishibashi, Ph.D., Research Group Leader, Microbiology
Research Section, Nutritional Science Laboratory,
Morinaga Milk Industry Co., Ltd; Teruhiko Mizota,
Research Group Leader, Food Science Section, 
Food R& D Laboratory, Morinaga Milk Industry Co., Ltd.

Mike Feeney, Executive Director, Enterprise Ireland 
chairing the Functional Foods Seminar, Hotel New Otari,
Tokyo.

Minister Noel Treacy, T.D.,
Minister of State,
Department of Agriculture
and Food delivering the
keynote speech at the
Functional Foods Seminar,
Hotel New Otani, Tokyo.
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Tackling the Equity Gap Enterprise Ireland is committed to continuing to support the overall development of venture capital funding

within Ireland and seeking to bridge the gap which currently exists in the availability of early stage seed capital funding. Seed and

venture funds supported by Enterprise Ireland are primarily focused on innovative start-ups in high priority sectors and locations

that are considered regional development priority areas. Fifteen funds have been established to date under the National

Development Plan 2000 – 2006. These funds have a total of €415.8 million available for investment, of which Enterprise Ireland has

directly committed an investment of €98.8 million. 

Streamlined Financial Incentives Enterprise Ireland’s new streamlined range of financial incentives developed in late 2002 was

introduced during 2003 and is now operating successfully. These incentives, which are clearly outlined in Enterprise Ireland’s new

Financial Support brochure and on our website, are focused on providing support for: Exploring new opportunities; New high 

potential start-up companies; Company expansion; Research & Development and Improving competitiveness.

Supporting Early Development Enterprise Ireland supports budding entrepreneurs through its Campus Business Development Fund

and its mentoring programmes for owner-managers in the crucial early stages of company development. Upsurge in Campus

Funding: There was an unprecedented uptake around the country for campus enterprise funding during 2003, with 117 initiatives

being supported in 12 different centres. Our investment totalled €3.4 million for the year, up €1.4 million on 2002. By supporting

Enterprise Platform Programmes Enterprise Ireland encourages graduates with business experience and entrepreneurial ideas that

have potential market demand and use unique technology, to engage with third level institutions to create value-added products. This

feeds the stock of high potential start-up companies as well as campus incubators. A new Campus Enterprise Programme

dedicated to software companies was approved for NUI Galway, a regional hub for the software industry. National and UK 

advertising was used to create awareness and it helped generate a significant number of participants. Mentoring: Entrepreneurs

need training and support in all kinds of areas such as strategic management, finance, resource management, sales and marketing

and product development. This is especially true during the crucial first three years of company development. In addition, Enterprise

Ireland actively encourages venture capitalists to play a mentoring role with early stage companies. This advice and guidance is

invaluable to start-ups and can help them to develop to the stage where funding would be made available.  

A new era for Enterprise Ireland’s Mentor Network Mary Cryan has been appointed Chairman of

Enterprise Ireland’s Mentor Network. She takes over from Brian Doyle, the co-founder of the Network

and its chairman for the past 15 years. Mary has extensive experience as a mentor, an entrepreneur

and a business advisor. She is a former chairman of the Irish Software Association and has advised

many SMEs and start-ups on growth and company development. 
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Central to Ireland’s economic development is its ability to grow its own enterprises

– businesses that are grounded in value-added products and services that can 

be exported. Enterprise Ireland is committed to encouraging the growth of these

businesses and therefore strongly supports new, innovative start-ups that offer

these opportunities – high potential start-ups. 

Enterprise Ireland supported 61 new high potential start-ups during 2003, an increase of 13% on 2002. Software and international

services sectors had the highest number of start-ups with 35, followed by industrial products sectors with 20.



Communications & networking

software company, Corvil, develops

and markets a unique product set

with such potential…

Communications & networking software company, Corvil, develops and markets a unique product set with such potential that

Cisco, the worldwide leader in Internet networking solutions and Apax, the world’s largest private equity fund, contributed to a 

€10 million funding round completed in 2003 during a particularly difficult funding climate. Other investors in the company include

ACT Venture Capital, Ion Equity, Enterprise Ireland and hi-tech entrepreneur Jim Mountjoy. * Corvil was founded in 2000 on the back

of nine years of mathematical research by a team led by Professor John Lewis in the Dublin Institute of Advanced Studies. Its

technology improves the instrumentation of Internet Protocol (IP) networks by a factor of 60,000 times more than current technology,

for no added overhead, enabling a fundamental breakthrough in the ability to deliver voice, video and data applications over the

Internet with certainty over the optimal bandwidth and quality of service operating point. * Successful product trials have been

completed with customers in the US and Europe and announcements of customer sales are expected mid-2004. Corvil sells its

software, hardware and support services directly and indirectly through partners. * Enterprise Ireland is actively involved in 

developing export markets for Corvil and injected early stage funding. Donal Byrne, Corvil CEO, said: “Enterprise Ireland played a

pivotal role at a critical time for us. The bridge funding we received allowed us to develop our first product and raise finance to attract

potential beta customers. The continuing support from Enterprise Ireland is a great help in opening doors in new markets.” * Corvil

was one of 30 international companies to be chosen as a global technology pioneer by the World Economic Forum, a think-tank in

Geneva which analyses the impact of technology on business and society. The company has its headquarters in Dublin and currently

employs 38 staff across Ireland, the UK and USA. 

*

* Corvil

www.corvil.com
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Key Growth Sectors There were a number of key sectors that showed particular opportunities for start-up companies in 2003. They

include software, lifesciences and medical devices and digital media, eLearning and education services. Software and

International Services: Enterprise Ireland made investments in 35 high potential start-ups in the software and international services

sectors in 2003, ranging from €150,000 to €500,000. Software sectors such as enterprise software and wireless software applications

were particularly strong in 2003. The software market has changed significantly from the boom years when developing leading

edge technology was a key driver. The growth in demand is now for reliable software, which will either generate incremental revenue

for the customer in the short-to medium-term, or immediately reduce their operating costs. Enterprise Ireland is currently 

focusing on helping software client companies carefully position their offering against global competitors in this evolving 

marketplace and to articulate a clear return-on-investment proposition to targeted customers. In 2003, compliance and security

software in particular showed a growth in demand in both the financial services and lifesciences sectors. Mobile operators are also

renewing investment in software solutions, provided an immediate financial return is delivered.  The standard of 

technical knowledge and creativity in Irish start-ups continues to produce high quality new businesses in Ireland. Software provision

for Government services is emerging as one of the key growth markets over the next five years. This includes both the automation of

the business processes and the connection of citizens directly, via the web to Government services relating to areas such as taxation,

licensing renewal and medical appointments. During 2003, Forfás, in co-operation with Enterprise Ireland and the IDA, 

commissioned a report on Wireless Communications – An Area of Opportunity for Ireland, which is now completed and recommends

a series of actions to exploit identified opportunities for Irish companies. Enterprise Ireland will participate in the implementation

group, which includes private sector representatives, set up to implement these recommendations. Lifesciences and Medical

Devices: Creating new products also requires identifying defensible markets that client companies can enter. One sector that offers

great potential is that of lifesciences and medical devices. This is R&D driven, needs regulatory approval and offers good use of

Ireland’s existing manufacturing capabilities and R&D skills-base. Some Enterprise Ireland client companies that previously

supplied components to multinationals in the electronics industry are now using their existing core skills and systems to produce

medical device components instead. The medical devices sector has a global market value of €200 billion. Ireland’s home-grown

sector now accounts for €27 million in sales, employs 500 people and has an export rate of 84% which is growing at 10% a year. 

Digital Media, eLearning and Education: The digital media industry has revenues of €100 million, of which half is from exports. This

revenue is estimated to rise to €500 million over the next eight years. Digital media combines digital technology with news and 

entertainment to produce products and services such as computer games, interactive TV, film animation and music. Enterprise Ireland

has placed an emphasis on working with partners to develop this high potential industry in Ireland. As part of Enterprise Ireland’s

efforts to help foster growth in the digital media sector, it also approved €2.5 million funding for a digital media incubator which was

co-developed with the Digital Hub Development Agency and Dublin City Council. This incubator, located in the Digital Depot at the heart

of the Digital Hub, is a facility for early stage digital media companies and is already home to an exciting cluster of creative and

innovative companies. Irish eLearning companies have performed well against stiff global competition in a challenging environ-

ment, especially in their main market, the US. As with the global eLearning industry, consolidation has also been a feature of the Irish

industry in the past year. Enterprise Ireland has assisted this sector through a range of activities from inward buyer visits to CEO

forum meetings and funding support. The sector has generated in excess of €175 million in exports. Enterprise Ireland worked

closely with the Irish third level sector in the development of the growing international education sector, which now accounts for fee

revenues of over €100 million. In conjunction with the International Education Board of Ireland, Enterprise Ireland organised a

number of overseas missions in developing markets, such as China, India and Russia. 
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Irish semi-conductor capital 

equipment company, Xsil, has 

grown from a high potential start-up

company in April 2000 to a world

leader in precision engineering.

In the 20 months to the end of December 2001, Xsil’s turnover was €160,000. By the end of December 2002 this rose to €2.2

million and by the end of 2003 Xsil’s turnover was an impressive €29 million. * This success has enabled Xsil to increase its number

of highly-skilled employees from 12 to over 130, from its headquarters in Dublin right across its international offices. In 2003 it

approved new office openings in Taiwan, Singapore and Korea to add to its network of offices in the US, the UK and Japan, where is

operates from Enterprise Ireland’s incubator facility. * Xsil develops and manufactures laser micro machining systems for high

volume manufacturing in sectors such as optoelectronics, bio-medical manufacturing and the semiconductor industry. Its laser

processing system technology is based on core competencies of optical and laser system design, robotics, vision systems, 

mechanical and electrical design, software design, and material handling. * All of Xsil’s customers are in the top 20 purchasers of

semi-conductor capital equipment worldwide and have market capitalisations of over €5 billion. * The company was co-founded by

Peter Conlon and Patrick Rainsford on a strong foundation of intellectual property, including 24 patent applications. From the 

beginning, Xsil has received strong accolades and awards, including in 2003 the European Semi-conductor New Company of the Year

Award, the Software Association Company of the Year, the Exporters Association Innovation Exporter Award and the Deloitte &

Touche Fast 50 Award 2003. * Peter Conlon, chairman and CEO of Xsil, commented: “One of the major challenges for us was the

fact that there was no historic capital equipment industry in Ireland. We had to compete with leading producers from well-estab-

lished markets such as Japan and Germany from the very beginning. That reputation is now being built for Ireland in world markets.”

* Enterprise Ireland has supported the company since inception through its network of overseas offices and through R&D support

for new product development. 

*

*XSil

www.xsil.com
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Enterprise Ireland organised the first mission of Irish biomedical, medical

devices and IT companies to the National Institutes of Health (NIH) and

the Food & Drugs Administration (FDA) in the US. This was a ground-

breaking mission into the heart of the world’s largest and premier medical

research organisation. It was facilitated as a result of contacts between An Tániste, Mary Harney TD, and the US

Secretary of Health and Human Services, Tommy Thompson. Our aim with this mission was to establish

connections and begin long-term relationships with the NIH and FDA. This would further R&D in the sectors

and help Irish companies develop new products and penetrate the US and world markets with leading edge

products. In 2003 the 27 research institutes and centres of the NIH had a budget of $27.3 billion. During the visit,

12 Irish companies with 21 executives met 75 senior executives, scientists and researchers of the NIH and FDA.

The feedback has been very positive in terms of creating opportunities for collaborative research, technology

transfer and sales.  One client company, Legend Care from Mullingar, had a great response from the NIH for its

product – a preventative foot care sock used by diabetes sufferers. After the visit, the company filed a $0.75

million grant application with the NIH for a two-year multi-centre study to test the efficiency of its product in

reducing the incidents of diabetic foot pathology among high-risk patients in Texas, the UK and Ireland. This link

with the NIH is a significant boost to the company’s international strategies. Enterprise Ireland is actively

working with the NIH Office of Technology Transfer to ensure continued interactions between Irish companies

and NIH researchers. A follow-on mission is being organised for June 2004.

First Healthcare mission to the 

US National Institutes of Health, Washington, DC

At the Lifesciences Mission to the National Institutes of Health, May 13 2003 were, front row from left: 
Rosemary Durcan, Irish BioIndustry Association, IBEC; Karen Conroy, Enterprise Ireland (Dublin), Valentine Hayes,
Enterprise Ireland (Washington DC); Jane Farrar, CSO, Genable; Siobhan Mitchell, CTO, Cellix; Vivienne Williams, CEO,
Cellix. Back row from left: Dr Barry Kiely, CEO, Alimentary Health, Colin Breen, Kinematik Ltd; Gerry Murphy, Executive
Director, Enterprise Ireland; Paul F. Kenna, Clinical Director, Genable; Mary G. Skelly, CEO, Irish BioVentures International
Ltd; Deirdre Glenn, Enterprise Ireland; Justin Lynch, CEO, Legend Care and Peter Gingras, Managing Director, 
Proxy Biomedical.
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During 2003, 
Enterprise Ireland
supported the 
establishment of 61
new companies with
high export growth
potential. Projected
employment in these
businesses is 1,900
over three years.
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In order to recognise the hard work and ambition of the entrepreneurs within these start-ups and to raise 

awareness of Enterprise Ireland’s involvement in this sector, Minister of State for Trade and Commerce, Michael

Ahern, and Frank Ryan, CEO Enterprise Ireland hosted a showcase of ‘The Class of 2003’. A total of 30 

representatives from venture capital firms and the wider investment community attended the event and met

over 100 representatives from the start-up companies. These innovative start-ups come from a variety of

leading edge sectors such as biotechnology, photonics, IT, medical devices and functional foods. The companies

all show strong potential to become major contributors to the Irish economy as they grow and develop. Half of

the companies represented at the event have set up in

locations outside Dublin, which contributes greatly to

stimulating local economies and encouraging

balanced regional development. The Class of 2003 also

reflects the increasing amount of women business

leaders in Ireland. Seven of the entrepreneurs were

women, which is 20% of the total group. This figure is up

from the previous year, when two of the start-ups were

led by women.

Start-ups Class of
2003 Speaking at the Start-up Class of 2003 showcase event,

Frank Ryan, Chief Executive Officer, Enterprise Ireland
said “All these companies, and the entrepreneurs leading
them, signal a new wave of indigenous Irish industry”.

The Start-Up Class of 2003 had 7 new high growth businesses established by women.
Pictured from left: Dr. Mary C. Scannell, Managing Director, Scannell Solutions and 
Mary Burke, Managing Director, BioClin Research Laboratories. 

At Enterprise Ireland’s Start-Up Class of 2003 were, from left: Maria Moynihan, Business
Strategy Director, SigmaX; Pat Maher, Executive Director, Enterprise Ireland and Dr
James Lee, Managing Director, SigmaX.



Haptica, a ground-breaking start-up

company located in the Trinitiy

Enterprise Centre, Dublin, provides

state-of-the-art training products for

surgeons…

Haptica, a ground-breaking start-up company located in the Trinitiy Enterprise Centre, Dublin, provides state-of-the-art 

training products for surgeons conducting laparoscopic surgery (also known as keyhole surgery). The company’s flagship product,

ProMISTM is the only product of its kind in the world to simulate a human body and track surgical movements using real or virtual

surgical tools. * Haptica was founded by Trinity College Dublin Professor, Gerard Lacey PhD, and Fiona Slevin in 2000, following

the commercialisation of Professor Lacey’s research into sensory technology and robotics. The company’s initial product was Guido,

a walking aid for patients and in April 2002, Haptica developed new products by combining sensory technology and surgical 

simulator equipment. * These products meet an acute need for efficient surgical training, as the profession moves towards

independent assessment and measurement of training and reduced working hours for surgeons. * Enterprise Ireland has supported

Haptica throughout its development through investment, grant aid for R&D, guidance on market development and exporting and 

facilitation of buyer and networking events. * Haptica has worked closely with the Royal College of Surgeons and the prestigious

college also became the company’s first customer. Haptica sells directly to training institutes, medical centres and hospitals in

Ireland, the UK and the US, where it plans to open a new office in May 2004. Distributors are also selling Haptica products in Japan

and Australia. The company currently employs 15 people and expects to increase this number to 25 in 2004. 

*

* Haptica

www.haptica.com
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At the BioLink USA-Ireland Executive Committee Inaugural Conference, October 7, 2003, were, from left:  Marina
Donohoe, SVP Enterprise Ireland Americas; Rich Kivel, President & COO, Trinity Partners, LLC; Dr. Robert Clarke,
Professor of Onconology, Georgetown School of Medicine; Mary Harney TD, Tánaiste and Minister for Enterprise, 
Trade & Employment; Dr. Gary Hardiman, Director BIOGEM, University of California San Diego; Andrew Broderick,
Senior Lifescience Consultant, SRI Consulting Business Intelligence; Fiona Hyland, Bioinformatics Statistician, Applied
Biosystems; Thomas Hales, Project Manager, Applied Biosystems; Dr. Denis Headon, Director of Texas/UK Collaborative
Research Initiative, Rice University; Dr. Deirdre McDonnell-Lee, VP Healthcare, Enterprise Ireland.   

BioLink USA-Ireland, (www.biolinkusaireland.com) a new biotechnology networking body facilitated by

Enterprise Ireland, was set up in 2003. The network consists of highly qualified and experienced Irish expatriates

working as scientists, engineers, entrepreneurs, researchers and other professionals in the life science industry

and academic institutions across the US. It is designed to build connections between its members and biotech-

nology companies and networks in Ireland. It forms part of Enterprise Ireland’s Building Biotech Business

Strategy, designed to maximise the creation and development of commercially focused early-stage biotechnology

companies. It will help to identify foreign based entrepreneurs and start-ups with potential to establish in

Ireland. Through conferences, seminars and workshops the expatriates link into people based in the industry in

Ireland. This allows the network to exchange information, knowledge and advice to further sales, new product

development and strategic planning. It is hoped that the expatriates will either continue to promote the network

in the US or return home to Ireland to enter the workforce or set up their own companies. About 600 expatriates

are linked in the network throughout 10 different chapters in the US. This will be expanded to also include

experts in new technology areas such as nanotechnology and photonics. BioLink is expected to become a fully

self-sustaining, self-funded organisation in 2004. Due to the successful establishment of BioLink USA-Ireland,

Enterprise Ireland is currently facilitating the set up of similar networking organisations in the UK and Canada.

As with the US network, they are designed to link high-qualified Irish expatriates within the UK and Canada.

Their establishment will enable the transfer of knowledge, advice and sales routes to the home-based biotech-

nology industry and generally contribute to the strengthening and development of the industry in Ireland.

To-date, about 200 expatriates have been identified in the UK, following initial meetings held in London,

Edinburgh and Cambridge. Their inaugural committee is now in the process of being formed.
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A key part of Enterprise Ireland’s focus is on building and supporting

businesses around the country that are, or have the potential to be, 

fast-growing successful enterprises. 

Growing the number and size of international, Irish-owned businesses in all parts of the country is crucial to our economic

development and central to balanced regional development, in line with the National Spatial Strategy. 

Regional Investment Enterprise Ireland’s policy objectives for balanced regional development are reflected in the structure of its funding

offer. For example, funding for existing company expansion is biased towards the Border, Midland and Western (BMW) region and the

South-East, South-West and Mid-West regions. The maximum grant level is higher than in Dublin and the Mid-East and a higher proportion

of this funding is also non-repayable. In addition, of the 14 venture capital funds in which investment was made in 2003, four have specific

regional commitments, whereby 50% of their investment must be outside Dublin. 

Encouraging Entrepreneurship The development of entrepreneurship is one of the most important drivers of rapid and sustainable economic

growth. A primary aim for Enterprise Ireland is to facilitate entrepreneurship so that the maximum number of high potential start-ups can be

established right across the regions. Institutes of Technology Incubators: A major contributor to sustained employment and wealth in

the regions is the set-up of new high technology companies. A total of €5 million was approved for incubation space in Sligo and Limerick in

2003, bringing total investment to €30 million. This brings the total number of incubator centres to 14 in Institutes of Technology around the

country. A further €2.3 million is available for management and business development support. Institutes of Technology are seen as key

engines for growth in the regions. This funding will help them build the infrastructure they need to nurture start-up companies and advance

their commercial research activities. It gives essential assistance to the commercialisation of knowledge, a key goal for Enterprise Ireland.

Funding for the centres is provided for under the Regional Operations Programmes for the BMW and the Southern and Eastern Region.

They are co-financed by EU Structural Funds. University Incubators: As part of its efforts to further the commercialisation of research

and the development of on-campus business infrastructure, Enterprise Ireland has in previous years supported business incubation centres

in DCU – the Invent Centre, the newly opened incubators in UCD – NovaUCD and NUI Galway. Bio-incubators: A major step forward in

the biotechnology and lifesciences sectors in 2003 was Enterprise Ireland’s approval of €3.3 million for five bio-incubators. This investment

provides laboratory space for companies in the key lifesciences campuses of Trinity College Dublin (two), UCC, NUI Galway and DCU. 

Where possible, the incubators will be located on university campuses. Biotechnology and lifesciences start-ups will have easy access to

biotechnology staff on campus, financial, legal and marketing supports as well as the necessary technical laboratory equipment. 

Community Enterprise Centres: Enterprise Ireland continues to encourage entrepreneurship at grass roots level through its support of

Community Enterprise Centres (CECs). They play an important role in developing local businesses and networks around the country.



In 1996 Quality Irish Food, trading 

as Mr Crumb, set up in Finea, 

Co Westmeath, one of the three

zones in the country with a 

declining population. 

The company has become one of the fastest growing speciality food manufacturers in Ireland and the number one Irish

category brand in retail, food processors and food service. To-date, the business has grown 30% a year since 1998 and the brand has

a multi-million euro valuation.  * Enterprise Ireland is supporting Mr Crumb towards funding a new 2,500 sqm state-of-the-art 

extension to its food facility in Finea. The expansion is in response to growing demand in Ireland and the UK and will enable the

company to enhance its already significant R&D capacity as well as boosting its production capacity by up to 500%. * The company

intends to aggressively develop its market share in Ireland, the UK and Irish expatriate markets with demand for its premium bread-

crumb and stuffing products, such as the US. * Mr Crumb is a multi award winning company. Among others it was awarded Best

Irish Speciality Product 2003 for its Pork, Cranberry & Chestnut Stuffing, by a panel of top UK chefs and supermarket buyers at the

2003 Great Taste Awards in London. Along with other Great Taste Awards, Mr Crumb also won the Irish Independent / Ulster Bank

National Business Achievers Award.  * The success of Mr Crumb demonstrates the practical benefit of balanced regional 

development by generating revenue and jobs. The company also promotes its own programme of Social Responsibility to support its

workforce of between 30 and 70 full and part-time employees. This includes flexi-time, job sharing, training, personal development

and the provision of a fully equipped gym in what will be one of Europe’s most modern food facilities.

*

*Quality Irish Food  
– Mr Crumb

www.mrcrumb.ie
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In 2003, Enterprise Ireland approved funding for 15 new and expanding CECs. For example, in the West region, two new CECs were approved

for Tuam and Letterfrack. Two new centres were opened in Clonberne and Coolock, while substantial extensions were completed at Killarney,

Navan, Wexford and Wicklow. All of these are providing high-tech accommodation for technology-based projects. In all, there are now over

80 CECs, which have been assisted by Enterprise Ireland, in operation throughout the country, and a further 34 are either under construction

or are at an advanced planning stage.

Networking & Clustering Enterprise Ireland works in partnership with all related agencies and organisations involved in regional develop-

ment including City and County Development Boards and Regional Authorities. Enterprise Ireland also partners third level institutions to

encourage the commercialisation of research and the stimulation of awareness of innovation. Below are some particular areas of activity:

Encouraging Business Networking: Enterprise Ireland has undertaken a number of initiatives to create formal and informal networks

between managers and promoters from the community-led enterprise sector. We have helped to establish 6 networks with over 100 

community enterprise groups involved. The purpose of this networking is to enable communities to learn from each other, and to establish

best practice methods of doing business. In addition, costs have been cut by, for instance, establishing a group insurance scheme for

DCU €1.6m

IT Blanchardstown €0.4m

NCI €2.5m

UCD €1.6m

IT Tallaght €2.5m

IADT Dun Laoghaire €2.5

Galway / Mayo IT €2.5m

NUIG €0.9m

Athlone IT €2.5m

IT Sligo €2.5m

Galway / Mayo IT (Castlebar) €1.3m

Limerick IT €2.5m

IT Tralee €2.1m

Cork IT €2.5m

Waterford IT €2.5m

IT Carlow €1.4m

Dundalk IT €1.9m

Major investment 
by Enterprise Ireland in Third Level 
Business Incubation Space 2000 – 2003 



In October 2003 Galway hosted Med-in-Ireland, Enterprise Ireland’s global conference gathering manufacturers

of medical devices from Europe and the US. The worldwide market for proprietary medical products is worth

€200 billion, and Irish companies are well placed to take advantage of it. The sector needs knowledge-based

companies with high quality products and high potential growth. It is the type of industry that will grow the Irish

economy. Med-in-Ireland, which was organised in co-operation with our industry partners the Irish Medical

Devices Association (IMDA) and the Medical Industry Supplier Alliance (MEDISA), attracted over 90 medical

device buyers from 16 countries in Europe and the US. More than 30 Irish companies showcased their products

and more than €10 million in orders and follow-on business was generated from the conference. The Irish

medical device products sector is very important to the Irish economy and a key area for Enterprise Ireland to

support. The home-grown industry accounts for €27 million in sales and has an export rate of 84% which is

growing at 10% per year. The industry currently employs 500 people. In addition, the Irish sub-supply industry

employs 440 people and has €25 million in sales. Its exports stand at 78%, growing 9% annually.
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At the Med-in-Ireland event were, from left: Donal Moloney,  Global Supply Manager, DePuy (A Johnson & Johnson
Company); Theodore J Roumel, Assistant Director, Office of Technology Transfer, National Institutes of Health and
Gerry Murphy, Executive Director, Enterprise Ireland. 

Med-in-Ireland
– networking in medical devices 



Enterprise Centres. Discussions are now underway with the providers of telecommunications facilities for the provision of broadband and

other services. Encouraging Business Clusters: The growth of clusters of similar businesses is a very important aspect to regional 

development and one to which Enterprise Ireland is fully committed. It is important to nurture these clusters and to replicate the success of

existing clusters in other areas around the country. Certain regional specialities are developing in the engineering sector, such as clusters

of toolmaking expertise in the North-West and the East. To support this engineering base, Sligo IT is designated as the National Training

Centre for Toolmakers and Tool Design Engineers. A forklift manufacturing cluster has also emerged in the North-East. There has also

been an emergence of a home-grown cluster of innovation-led, venture capital funded technology companies that are winning leading

positions in international markets for medical device manufacturing. From the mid-1990s, emerging clusters started to develop particularly

in Galway. A strong telecommunications software cluster has developed in Dublin, fuelled by considerable levels of venture capital 

investment in start-up and growth stage firms that began in the mid-1990s. Cork and Galway have also fostered significant levels of 

telecommunications software development activity, in both multinational and home-grown companies, in areas such as call centre servers,

network management, service assurance and rating. Along the West coast, a new industry-driven initiative known as the Atlantic

Technology Corridor was set up to focus on developing the technology sector from Limerick to Galway. It involves more than 250 technology

companies, multinationals and local firms, as well as local development agencies including Enterprise Ireland. This high technology cluster

will provide networking and knowledge sharing opportunities in the region and encourage joint R&D initiatives among local SMEs.
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Client Employment Performance by Region

* SOUTH-WEST INCLUDES OVERSEAS NATURAL RESOURCES COMPANIES IN THE MID-WEST.

Region Total No Gains Losses Net Change 

Dublin/Mid-East 63,268 5,381 8,029 -2,648 

Midlands 7,941 567 353 +214 

North-East 12,910 805 1,017 -212 

North-West 5,936 470 722 -252 

South-East 17,768 1,348 1,554 -206 

South-West* 23,104 1,665 1,781 -116 

West 11,118 971 957 +14 

Total 142,045 11,207 14,413 -3,206 



A key part of our Science and Innovation strategy is to 

commercialise knowledge so as to create strong viable

businesses that can compete internationally Our

Commercialisation Fund, and in particular its Campus

Business Development Fund, is focused on facilitating new

campus start ups. Each year we actively support campus

entrepreneurs in our Universities and Institutes of Technology

including those who participate on various campus Enterprise

Platform Programmes, which are run nationally throughout

the Regions. These programmes are essentially business

incubation programmes attended by participants who have

innovative ideas or technologies. They provide hands-on

business skills training, delivered formally by academic institu-

tions and informally through one-to-one mentoring sessions from Enterprise Ireland’s mentor network as well as

business counselling and personal development training. To-date over I40 businesses have been created as

going concerns and of those 30 have been identified as having export potential. In May 2003 a National Campus

Enterprise Day was organised by Enterprise Ireland in Portlaoise. This attracted 150 attendees, including venture

capitalists, funding agencies, business angels and investors and professional advisors as well as 

entrepreneurial facilitators. 

The objective of our Campus Enterprise Day is to showcase

the new campus enterprises emerging from our Universities

and Institutes of Technology from  all regions including

start-ups from Cork, Tralee, Galway, Athlone, Dundalk,

Waterford and Dublin. Campus Enterprise Day provides 

our campus entrepreneurs with an opportunity to network

and promote their ventures.

At the Enterprise Ireland Campus Enterprise Day in
Portlaoise were, from left: Margaret Ryan, CEO Laois
Chamber of Commerce; Cyril Moriarty, CEO Last Mile
Wireless and Michael McCaughey, CEO, VP Tretorn.  

Campus Enterprise Day
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Monicon Technology specialises 

in the design, development and

manufacture of advanced, high

quality electronic gas monitoring

instruments.

The company is based in Galway and has grown steadily since its foundation in 1988. However, thanks to an increased 

emphasis on R&D to boost product development, and investment in automated manufacturing, the company has seen a five-fold

increase in turnover in the past six years. * The company opened a new factory in 2002, with Enterprise Ireland’s assistance, to

allow it to increase capacity to meet growing global demand. This expansion has allowed the company to increase its workforce by

25%. * Enterprise Ireland has supported Monicon throughout its development with strategic guidance on market entry strategies

and market development, strategic business direction, buyer introductions and trade missions and R&D assistance. The company

regards Enterprise Ireland, and in particular its Development Advisor, as a partner in its business development. * By nature of its

industry, Monicon is export focused. 60% of sales come from Europe and 20% come from its largest growth markets of the Middle

East and Asia, leaving 20% of sales coming from Ireland. It has 12 employees and a network of distributors. * Enterprise Ireland has

been instrumental in the sourcing and management of this distributor network, especially in Scandinavia, where an under-perform-

ing distributor was motivated to increase sales in-line with targets. Monicon intends to continue to develop its European base,

including the new opportunities offered by the accession states, as well as develop the high potential markets of Asia and the 

Middle East. 

*

* Monicon Technology
Ltd

www.monicon.com

12
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The Clonberne community, a small rural area in North East

Galway, opened its enterprise centre in November, 2003. Mary

Harney TD, Tánaiste and Minister for Enterprise Trade &

Employment, performed the ceremony. The centre will facilitate

the creation of local enterprises in the area and should

generate new employment opportunities for local people.

Nine units totalling 7,000 sq ft were constructed and seven of

these are now occupied. They include a crèche, credit union

office, computer training centre and a community office as

well as office facilities for two local companies. The centre

was supported by Enterprise Ireland under the CEC 2002

scheme. 
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Clonberne

Community Enterprise Centre
Clonberne Community Enterprise Centre, Galway.
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1 Pat Molloy (Chairman)
Company Director

2 Elaine Farrell
Executive Secretary
Irish Farmers Association

3 Gus Fitzpatrick
Company Director

4 Kieran McGowan
Company Director 

5 Brian Kearney
Past President
Institution of Engineers of Ireland

6 Frank Ryan
Chief Executive Officer
Enterprise Ireland

7 Heather Ann McSharry
County Manager
Boots Healthcare 

8 Veronica Perdisatt
Chairperson
The Kilkenny Group 

9 Barry O’Halloran
Company Director

10 Lorraine Benson 
Principal Officer
Department of Enterprise,
Trade and Employment

11 John Connolly
Marketing Manager
SWS Group

Enterprise Ireland Board
(from left to right)

Membership of the Board and Committees
as at 30 March 2004
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The Board is responsible for setting the broad policies of the organisation and delegates to management and sub-committees the responsibility for 

their implementation. In its own activities and in its use of committees the Board operates towards best private sector corporate governance principles. 

The Enterprise Ireland Board and its relevant committees have the authority to purchase shares (ordinary and preference) in companies. The 

Board has statutory authority to approve funding support up to the levels set out in the Industrial Development Act 1986, as amended, and to make 

recommendations to Government on funding support above these levels. In accordance with the Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies,

Board members are required to register their interests in other undertakings with the Secretary and do not participate in decisions nor receive any 

documentation in relation to these undertakings and others where conflict of interest may arise. Mary Gallagher, Secretary to the Board



The Audit Committee assists the organisation in discharging its legal and accounting responsibilities. 

It provides the communication link with the external Auditor and evaluates and co-ordinates the Internal Audit Function.

The Investment Portfolio Review Committee has responsibility for overseeing the management of Enterprise Ireland’s investment portfolio.

The Remuneration Committee reviews the performance and remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and the senior management team 

within the context of Government Guidelines.
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Audit Committee

Investment Portfolio Review Committee

Remuneration Committee

Brian Kearney (Chairman)
Past President
Institution of Engineers 
of Ireland

Barry O’Halloran
Company Director

Gerry Moloney
Consultant

Pat Maher
Executive Director
Investment Services and Regions
Enterprise Ireland

Frank Ryan
Chief Executive Officer
Enterprise Ireland

Mary Gallagher
Secretary to the Investment Portfolio
Review Committee

Pat Molloy (Chairman)
Company Director

Barry O’Halloran
Company Director

Veronica Perdisatt
Chairperson
The Kilkenny Group

Mary Gallagher
Secretary to the Remuneration
Committee

Kieran McGowan (Chairman)
Company Director

Heather Ann McSharry
Country Manager
Boots Healthcare

Gus Fitzpatrick
Company Director

Mary Gallagher
Secretary to the Audit Committee
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1 Pat Maher
Executive Director
Investment Services & Regions

2 Brendan Finucane
Executive Director
Technology Development

3 Frank Ryan
Chief Executive Officer

6 Feargal Ó Móráin
Executive Director
Science & Innovation & 
Corporate Support Services

4 Peter D Coyle
Executive Director
Software & International Services &
the Americas, Asia/Rest of World

6 Mike Feeney
Executive Director
Food, International Marketing & UK

7 Gerry Murphy
Executive Director
Industrial Products & Europe

Enterprise Ireland Directorates
(from left to right)

The Investment Committee is  empowered to approve total funding packages up to €1.25 million, for projects where previous approved funding does not

exceed €3.25 million within the previous 2 years.

Investment Committee

Frank Ryan (Chairman)
Chief Executive Officer
Enterprise Ireland

Marian Byrne
Principal Officer
Department of Agriculture 
& Food

Patricia Byrne
Director
Knowledge Management
Enterprises
Shannon Development

Peter D Coyle
Executive Director
Software & International
Services, & the Americas,
Asia/ Rest of World
Enterprise Ireland 

Mike Feeney
Executive Director
Food, International
Marketing & UK
Enterprise Ireland

Brendan Finucane
Executive Director
Technology Development
Enterprise Ireland

Kieran Grace
Principal Officer
Department of Enterprise,
Trade & Employment

Sean Higgins
Manager, Food & 
Consumer Products
Enterprise Ireland

Pat Maher
Executive Director
Investment Services 
& Regions
Enterprise Ireland

Gerry Moloney
Consultant

Gerry Murphy
Executive Director
Industrial Products &
Europe, Enterprise Ireland

Feargal Ó Móráin
Executive Director
Science & Innovation 
& Corporate Support
Services
Enterprise Ireland

Ruth Lacey
Secretary to the 
Investment Committee
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The Competitiveness Fund Committee was created with the aim of substantially improving the productivity of small to medium-sized enterprises in

order to enhance their capability to compete in world markets. Initially a total fund of €10 million was made available under the National Development

Plan 2000-2006 and has been fully allocated. Applications were judged on a competitive basis.  

Competitiveness Fund Committee

Gerry Murphy (Chairman)
Executive Director
Industrial Products & Europe
Enterprise Ireland

Declan Coppinger
Assistant Principal Officer,
Department of Agriculture &
Food

Daniel Hickey
Managing Director, 
All in All Ingredients 

Sean Higgins
Manager 
Food & Consumer Products
Enterprise Ireland

Frank Kennedy
Technical Director, 
Fry Cadburys 

Lisa Looney
Senior Lecturer Mechanical
Engineering, 
Dublin City University 

Lucy McAuley
Senior Lecturer Mechanical
Engineering, IT Tallaght 

John McGrath
Director Consumer Foods,
Marketing & Communication,
Bord Bia

James McMahon
Plant Manager
Pauwels Trafo 

John Newham
Assistant Principal Officer,
Department of Enterprise,
Trade & Employment

Neil O’Sullivan
Manager Irish Enterprise,
Shannon Development

Brian Ranalow
Chairman 
H&K International 

Jennifer Malone
Secretary to 
Competitiveness Fund
Committee

The Management Approvals Committee is empowered to approve total funding packages up to €200,000, for projects where previous approved funding

does not exceed €400,000  within the previous two years.

Management Approvals Committee

Seán Higgins (Chairman) 
Manager, Food & Consumer
Products, 
Enterprise Ireland

Brian Gaffney
Manager Electronics &
Precision Components
Enterprise Ireland

Tom Kelly
Manager Technology 
Development, 
Enterprise Ireland

Denis Marnane
Manager Equity/Venture
Capital, Investment Services
Directorate
Enterprise Ireland

Deirdre Ní Bhroin
Secretary to the 
Management Approvals
Committee

The Committee approves Research and Development Grants for in-company research in accordance with the terms approved by the Minister with

responsibility for the administration of the initative, which was established by the Office of Science and Technology at the Department of Enterprise,

Trade and Employment.

RTI Committee    

Feargal Ó Móráin
(Chairman)
Executive Director, Science
& Innovation & Corporate
Support Services
Enterprise Ireland

Dr. Gerard Barry
Head of Food Evaluation
Services Department
National Food Centre
(Teagasc)

Prof. Gerry Byrne
Head of Department,
Mechanical Engineering
National University of Ireland
Dublin

Maura Carolan
R&D/Technical Director
Green Isle Foods

Enda Connolly
Manager, ESR & Personnel, 
IDA Ireland

Bernadette Cullinan
Chief Operations Officer 
Performix Technologies Ltd

Dr. Brendan Finucane
Executive Director,
Technology Development 
Enterprise Ireland

Gerry Fitzmaurice
Manager, Innovation Centre
Shannon Development

Denis Hayes
Technical Manager, Bulmers
Ltd (Showerings)

Bob Keane  
Office of Science &Technology
Dept of Enterprise, Trade &
Employment

James McIntosh
Agricultural Inspector
Department of Agriculture 
& Food

Sean McManus
Údarás Na Gaeltachta

Aidan O’Connor
Managing Director, 
Cavan MacLellan

Kevin Sherry
Manager, Investment
Services
Enterprise Ireland

Gillian Slattery 
Secretary to the RTI
Committee

Retired Committee Members
during 2003/2004:

Mike Conroy, 
Nortel Networks Ireland Ltd 

John Dillon, 
Shannon Development

Michael English,
Office of Science and
Technology, Department 
of Enterprise, Trade and
Employment 

Jim Harrington, 
Údarás Na Gaeltachta 

Gerry Jones, 
International Test
Technologies 

Josephine Kelly, 
Department of Enterprise,
Trade and Employment 
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The Board approves research grants for third-level institutions in accordance with the terms of the particular schemes as approved by the Minister for

Science, Technology and Commerce, and under such terms as the Board decides. It sets the terms and conditions for the individual grants under the fund

provided by the Office of Science and Technology.

National Research Support Fund Board (Measure 4)    

Feargal Ó Móráin
(Chairman)
Executive Director, 
Science & Innovation 
& Corporate Services,
Enterprise Ireland 

Prof. Pádraig
Cunningham
Department of Computer
Science, 
Trinity College Dublin

Prof. Roy Green
Head of Department
Dean of Faculty of
Commerce, 
NUI Galway

Prof. Mark Keane 
Chair of Computer Science, 
NUI Dublin

Pat Lawlor
Design/Development
Manager, 
Magna Donnelly Electronics

Dr. Martin Lyes
Manager, Science &
Innovation, 
Enterprise Ireland 

Prof. Thomas McCarthy
Department of Biochemistry
NUI Cork

Prof. Brian MacCraith 
Department of Physics
Dublin City University

Dr. Eucharia Meehan 
Head of Research
Programmes, 
Higher Education Authority

Alice Morgan
Manager, 
Knowledge, Enterprise &
Infrastructure, 
Shannon Development

Dr. Patricia Mulcahy
Head of Department, 
Institute of Technology
Carlow

Paul Phelan 
Consultant

Brendan Shanahan
Office of Science &
Technology, 
Department of Enterprise,
Trade & Employment.

Deirdre Ní Bhroin
Secretary to the National
Research Support Fund
Board

Enterprise Ireland, under the National Development Plan 2000– 2006 launched its new scheme in the Autumn of 2001. The objectives of the Seed and

Venture Capital Fund Scheme 2001–2006 will be to continue to develop the Seed and Venture Capital Industry for SMEs in Ireland with particular empha-

sis on the development of geographical locations outside Dublin, early stage projects and in sectors which are traditionally difficult to finance, e.g.

Biotechnology. Fifteen seed and venture capital funds are being funded under the National Development Plan 2001–2006.

Seed and Venture Capital Committee    

Pat Maher (Chairman)

Executive Director

Investment Services &

Regions

Enterprise Ireland

Marie Bourke

Manager, Planning/Tax &

Finance, Forfás

Kieran Grace

Principal Officer

Department of Enterprise,

Trade & Employment

Gerry Moloney

Consultant

Des Keane

Managing Director

Siseir Ireland Limited

Kevin Keating

Corporate Director

Goodbody Stockbrokers

Denis Marnane

Manager, 

Equity/Venture Capital 

Enterprise Ireland

Kevin Sherry

Manager, 

Investment Services, 

Enterprise Ireland

Ruth Lacey
Secretary to the Seed and
Venture Capital Committee 

This initiative was launched by the Department of Enterprise Trade and Employment in May 2003. It was supported by the Information Society Fund and

managed by Enterprise Ireland in conjunction with Shannon Development, Údarás na Gaeltachta and IDA Ireland. The objective of the initiative was to

prepare SMEs to take full advantage of IT systems and to position them to exploit the opportunities that eBusiness can provide. The grant assistance

was approved as part of the Consultancy Funding for SMEs Scheme. The fund has been fully allocated.

eBusiness and IT Advice Fund Committee

Jim Cuddy (Chairman)
Manager, Innovation,
Enterprise Ireland

Brian Gaffney
Manager, Electronics &
Precision Components,
Enterprise Ireland

Jim Harrington
Údarás Na Gaeltachta,
Galway

Brendan McCormack
Shannon Development

Kevin McCarthy
IDA Ireland 

Jennifer Malone
Secretary 



Mary Gallagher Secretary to the Board    

Paschal McGuire Press Relations

Frank Ryan Chief Executive Officer

Enterprise Ireland Organisation Structure  (as at 31 December 2003)

Directorates

Vacant
Industrial Products Group 1

Dick Lenehan
Healthcare, Pharmaceuticals &
High Potential Start-Ups

Richard Pollard
Paper, Print & Packaging, Construction 
Products & Market Development Europe

Sean Higgins
Food & Consumer Products

Tom Hayes
Consumer Food, Fish 
& High Potential Start-Ups

Eddie Hughes
Dairy, Drinks, Horticulture & 
Inward Investment

Derek Breen
Primary Meats

Giles O'Neill
Consumer Products & Timber

Patricia McLister
Software & International Services

Aidan Stack
Internet & Telecommunications Technologies

Greg Treston
Financial, Healthcare & Enterprise Software

Michael Cantwell
Digital Media, Education, elearning & ebusiness 

Des Doyle
High Potential Start-Ups

Brendan Flood  
United Kingdom

Mary Barton London

Marc Berman London

Stephen Hughes London

Jonathan McMillan Glasgow

Victoria Milhench Belfast

Jennifer Condon
National Informatics Directorate

Joe Curtis  
Informatics PAT

Kevin Sherry
Industrial Products Group 2

Kevin Kavanagh
Engineering

Brian Gaffney
Electronics & Precision Components

Declan Lyons
International Business Linkage

Ena Prosser   
Biotechnology Directorate

Tom Kelledy
Human Resource Development for clients

Marina Donohoe  
Americas

David Byrne New York

Sean McEllin Boston

Diane Roberts Silicon Valley

Colm McGinley Los Angeles

Val Hayes Washington D.C.

Michael Moriarty  
Europe

Angela Byrne Düsseldorf

Jan Gerritsen Munich

Gary Fallon Berlin

Deirdre McPartlin Vienna

Donald Black Paris

Charlotte Field Brussels

Tom Cusack Amsterdam

Leo McAdams Milan

Mike Dolan Madrid

Richard Murphy Stockholm

Conor Sheehan Copenhagen

Declan Ryan Warsaw

Jim Mongey Prague

SP Mahony Budapest

Vacant Moscow

Jim Maguire
Corporate & International Marketing

Gerry O'Brien
International Media

Kevin Neligan
Group Marketing & Event Management

Michael Garvey  
Asia/Rest of World

Patrick Yau Hong Kong

Alan Hobbs Beijing

Renee Wu Shanghai

KB Lim Singapore

Terry McParland Kuala Lumpur

Anne Balfe Tokyo

Nick Marmion Dubai

Ikram Ur-Rehman Riyadh

Anne Casey Sydney

Catherine Mulcahy Korea
Jim Lawlor
AMT Ireland/Materials Ireland (PAT)

Conor Fahy 
Client Knowledge Services

Austin Duke
Optronics Ireland (PAT)

Joe Madden  
PEI Technologies  (PAT)

Mike Feeney   
Food, International Marketing & UK

Peter D Coyle  – Software & International 
Services & the Americas, Asia/Rest of World

Gerry Murphy    
Industrial Products & Europe
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Pat Molloy Chairman,  Lorraine Benson, John Connolly, Elaine Farrell, 

Gus Fitzpatrick, Brian Kearney,  Kieran McGowan, Heather Ann McSharry, 

Barry O'Halloran, Veronica Perdisatt, Frank Ryan.

The Board

Colm Hackett
Regions & HPSU Co-ordination Unit

John O’Dea Dublin/Mid-East

Nick Mernagh Midlands

Brian Quinlan South-West

Seamus Bree West

Jim Mulcahy North-East

Barry Egan North-West

Michael McGuire South-East

Brendan Donnelly
Regional Development

Tom Kelly
Technology Development

Phil Thornton
Applied Research & Development

Jim Cuddy
Innovation Services

Michael Hughes
Electronics & Software

Neil Kerrigan
Healthcare, Chemicals, Construction, 
Paper, Print & Packaging

Eddie Commins
Engineering Technologies

Bernard Keaveney
Food, Consumer Products 
& Natural Resources

Martin Lyes  
Science & Innovation

John Smith
Research & Development & Innovation Management

Donal Carroll
PATs' Co-ordination & Intellectual Property

Brian O'Donnell
International Programmes & EU Affairs

Liam Bradley
Transport Logistics, COST Co-ordinator

Michael White
Regional Innovation & 
Atlantic University Alliance Liaison

Owen McBreen
International Science & Innovation BenchmarkingJulie Sinnamon

Investment Services

Denis Marnane  
Equity

William O'Brien
Investment Proposal Evaluation

Charlie Kelly
Mentor Network & Business Angels

Martin Reilly
Environmental Policy/Laboratory Services

James Clancy  
Shannon Laboratory

Paddy Hopkins  
Corporate Services

Gerry McMahon  
Grant Payments

Orla Tarbett
Client Service Unit/Contracts

Pat Clarke  
Internal Administration

Deirdre McDonough 
Information Technology

Jim Daly
Finance

Hugh O'Rourke  
Accounting Operations

Niall O'Donnellan  
Policy & Planning

Michael Leahy  
Corporate Planning

David Hedigan
Sectoral/Enterprise Development Policy

Mary Gallagher  
Corporate Governance

Paddy Goggin
Superannuation & Employee Benefits

Liam O'Donohoe  
Human Resources

Brendan Martin  
HR Services

Pat Maher  
Investment Services & Regions

Brendan Finucane  
Technology Development

Feargal Ó Móráin  
Science & Innovation & Corporate Support Services
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Freedom of Information Act, 1997

Regulations were signed into law on 30th

March 2001, providing for the extension of

the Freedom of Information Act (FOI) to

Enterprise Ireland. This Act provides a legal

right to individuals to obtain access to 

information held by public bodies, to the

greatest extent possible consistent with the

public interest and the right to privacy.

However, the Act provides strong protections

for individuals or companies who supply

information to Enterprise Ireland that is

confidential, commercially sensitive or

personal. Such information cannot be

released under FOI without those who

supplied the information being consulted.

There is also a right of appeal to the

Information Commissioner, who is an

independent authority for FOI matters.

Copies of the S15 Reference Book ‘Guide to

Functions and Records of Enterprise Ireland’

and the S16 Reference Book ‘Rules and

Practices of Enterprise Ireland’ are available

from the Government Relations and FOI

Office, Enterprise Ireland, Glasnevin, Dublin

9. The Section 16 Reference Book is also

available on our website at 

www.enterprise-ireland.com/foi.

The S15 manual has been distributed to

Public Libraries throughout Ireland.

Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act,

1989

In accordance with the Safety, Health and

Welfare at Work Act, 1989, Enterprise Ireland

has prepared a safety statement that 

encompasses all of the aspects affecting

staff and visitor welfare.

Worker Participation (State Enterprise)

Act, 1988

Pending its inclusion as a prescribed body

for the purposes of the Act, Enterprise

Ireland has put consultative processes 

in place, involving the Trade Unions 

representing staff.

Prompt Payment of Accounts Act, 1997

Enterprise Ireland comes under the remit of

the Prompt Payment of Accounts Act, 1997,

which came into effect on 2nd January 1998,

and the European Communities (Late

Payment in Commercial Transactions)

Regulations 2002, which came into effect 

on 7th August 2002. 

It is the policy of Enterprise Ireland to

ensure that all invoices are paid promptly.

Specific provisions are in place to enable all

invoices to be tracked and to ensure that

payments are made before their due date for

interest and charges purposes. Invoices are

logged daily and weekly cheque runs are

carried out to ensure prompt payment. These

controls are designed to provide reasonable,

though not absolute assurance against non-

compliance with the Act and Regulations.

Enterprise Ireland enters into written

contracts in a number of areas. The payment

period applicable for these contracts ranges

from 1 to 14 days.

During 2003 the total number of late

payments was 25 and they were  on average

78 days late over the due date. The value of

these late payments was €59,645 represent-

ing 0.08% of total payments made by the

Agency, with associated penalty interest and

charges totalling €1,243. Approximately

99.8% of all payment demands were paid

within the prescribed timeframe.

Ethics in Public Office Act, 1995

The provisions of the Ethics in Public Office

Act, 1995, are currently being updated to

bring Enterprise Ireland within the scope of

the Act. Pending the outcome of this process,

the Directors of Enterprise Ireland, and those

staff holding positions previously designated

in the former agencies, have voluntarily

completed and returned statements of 

interest in compliance with the provisions 

of the Act.

Environmental Policy Statement

Enterprise Ireland's activities impact the

environment in two main ways: 

Running the organisation: Through an

Environmental Management programme,

Enterprise Ireland manages the environmen-

tal impacts relevant to its activities. By the

establishment and review of environmental

objectives and targets, Enterprise Ireland

aims to continuously improve its environ-

mental performance in areas of its activities

which are appropriate and economically

viable. The Enterprise Ireland Environmental

Policy is available to interested parties on

request.

Supporting Irish Business: Enterprise

Ireland is pro-active in stimulating high

environmental standards among client

companies. The provision of mainstream

financial support to clients is subject to an

environmental review.

Disclosure Policy on Payments and

Investments

It is Enterprise Ireland’s policy to make 

information available on Financial Support

payments that have been made to client

companies. A supplement to this Report, 

listing all such payments made by Enterprise

Ireland in 2003, is available on request. 

A schedule of investments at cost as at 31

December 2003 showing individual amounts

in excess of €0.635 million is disclosed in

Appendix 1 attached to the Financial

Statements.

Equality

Enterprise Ireland is committed to a policy 

of equal opportunity and adopts a positive

approach to equality in the organisation.

Enterprise Ireland operates a number of

schemes that provide staff with options in

relation to meeting their career and personal

needs, such as job sharing, study leave, 

educational programmes and career breaks.

Commission of the European Union

In 2003, Enterprise Ireland administered a

range of programmes which are eligible for

co-funding by EU Structural Funds under the

Productive Sector Operational Programme,

Human Resources Operational Programme,

and the two Regional Operational

Programmes for the South-East and 

the BMW regions.

Frank Ryan, Chief Executive Officer
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I have audited the financial statements on

pages 70 to 88 under Section 22 of the

Industrial Development (Enterprise Ireland)

Act, 1998.

Respective Responsibilities of the

Members of the Board and the

Comptroller and Auditor General

The accounting responsibilities of the

members of the Board of the Agency are set

out on page 68. It is my responsibility, based

on my audit, to form an independent opinion

on the financial statements presented to me

and to report on them. 

I review whether the statement on the

system of internal financial control on page

69 reflects the Agency’s compliance with

applicable guidance on corporate governance

and report any material instance where

it does not do so, or if the statement is

misleading or inconsistent with other 

information of which I am aware from 

my audit of the financial statements.

Basis of Audit Opinion

In the exercise of my function as Comptroller

and Auditor General, I conducted my audit of

the financial statements in accordance with

auditing standards issued by the Auditing

Practices Board and by reference to the

special considerations which attach to State

bodies in relation to their management and

operation. 

An audit includes examination, on a test

basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts

and disclosures in the financial statements.

It also includes an assessment of the 

significant estimates and judgments 

made in the preparation of the financial

statements, and of whether the accounting

policies are appropriate to the Agency’s

circumstances, consistently applied and

adequately disclosed.

I planned and performed my audit so as to

obtain all the information and explanations

that I considered necessary to provide me

with sufficient evidence to give reasonable

assurance that the financial statements are

free from material misstatement whether

caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.

In forming my opinion I also evaluated the

overall adequacy of the presentation of 

information in the financial statements. 

Opinion

In my opinion, proper books of account have

been kept by the Agency and the financial

statements, which are in agreement with

them, give a true and fair view of the state of

affairs of Enterprise Ireland at 31 December

2003 and of its income and expenditure and

cash flow for the year then ended.

John Purcell

Comptroller and Auditor General

3 June 2004

Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General for presentation to 
the Houses of the Oireachtas 



Board Members’
Responsibilities

Financial Statements

Section 22 of the Industrial Development

(Enterprise Ireland) Act, 1998, requires

Enterprise Ireland to keep, in such form as

may be approved of by the Minister for

Enterprise, Trade and Employment with the

consent of the Minister for Finance, all

proper and usual accounts of money

received and expended by it.

In preparing those financial statements,

Enterprise Ireland is required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and

apply them consistently

• Make judgements and estimates that are 

reasonable and prudent

• Prepare the financial statements on the

going concern basis unless it is inappro-

priate to presume that it will continue in

operation

• State whether applicable accounting

standards have been followed, subject to

any material departures disclosed and

explained in the financial statements.

The Board is responsible for keeping proper

books of account which disclose, with

reasonable accuracy at any time, its finan-

cial position and which enables it to ensure

that the financial statements comply with

Section 22 of the Industrial Development

(Enterprise Ireland) Act, 1998.

Prompt Payment of Accounts Act, 1997

The Board has overall responsibility for the

organisation’s compliance with the Prompt

Payment of Accounts Act, 1997, which came

into effect on 2 January 1998, and the

European Communities (Late Payment in

Commercial Transactions) Regulations 2002,

which came into effect on 7 August 2002. The

Board has delegated this responsibility to

management.

The system of internal control incorporates

such controls and procedures that are

considered necessary to ensure compliance

with the Act. The organisation’s system of

internal control includes accounting and

computer controls designed to ensure the

identification of invoices and contracts for

payment within the prescribed payment

dates as defined by the Act. These controls

are designed to provide reasonable, though

not absolute, assurance against non-compli-

ance with the Act.

The Board is satisfied that Enterprise

Ireland complied with the provisions of the

Act in all material respects.

Board Members’ Report
For the year ended 31 December 2003
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On behalf of the Board of Enterprise Ireland:

Patrick J Molloy, Chairman Frank Ryan, Chief Executive Officer

Board Members’
Responsibilities

Financial Statements

Section 22 of the Industrial Development

(Enterprise Ireland) Act, 1998, requires

Enterprise Ireland to keep, in such form as

may be approved of by the Minister for

Enterprise, Trade and Employment with the

consent of the Minister for Finance, all

proper and usual accounts of money

received and expended by it.

In preparing those financial statements,

Enterprise Ireland is required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and

apply them consistently

• Make judgements and estimates that are 

reasonable and prudent

• Prepare the financial statements on the

going concern basis unless it is inappro-

priate to presume that it will continue in

operation

• State whether applicable accounting

standards have been followed, subject to

any material departures disclosed and

explained in the financial statements.

The Board is responsible for keeping proper

books of account which disclose, with

reasonable accuracy at any time, its finan-

cial position and which enables it to ensure

that the financial statements comply with

Section 22 of the Industrial Development

(Enterprise Ireland) Act, 1998.

Prompt Payment of Accounts Act, 1997

The Board has overall responsibility for the

organisation’s compliance with the Prompt

Payment of Accounts Act, 1997, which came

into effect on 2 January 1998, and the

European Communities (Late Payment in

Commercial Transactions) Regulations 2002,

which came into effect on 7 August 2002. The

Board has delegated this responsibility to

management.

The system of internal control incorporates

such controls and procedures that are

considered necessary to ensure compliance

with the Act. The organisation’s system of

internal control includes accounting and

computer controls designed to ensure the

identification of invoices and contracts for

payment within the prescribed payment

dates as defined by the Act. These controls

are designed to provide reasonable, though

not absolute, assurance against non-compli-

ance with the Act.

The Board is satisfied that Enterprise

Ireland complied with the provisions of the

Act in all material respects.
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On behalf of the Board of Directors of

Enterprise Ireland, I acknowledge our respon-

sibility for the system of internal financial

control in the agency and for putting in place

processes and procedures for the purpose of

ensuring that the system is effective. 

The system can provide only reasonable and

not absolute assurance that assets are

safeguarded, transactions authorised and

properly recorded, and that material errors or

irregularities are either prevented or would be

detected in a timely period.

The Board has taken steps to ensure an

appropriate control environment is in place

by: 

• Establishing formal procedures through

various committee functions to monitor

the activities and safeguard the assets of

the organisation. 

• Clearly defining and documenting manage-

ment responsibilities and powers 

• Developing a strong culture of accountabil-

ity across all levels of the organisation

The Board has also established processes to

identify and evaluate business risks. This is

achieved in a number of ways including:

• Identifying the nature, extent and financial

implications of risks facing Enterprise

Ireland 

• Assessing the likelihood of identified risks

occurring

• Assessing Enterprise Ireland’s ability to

manage and mitigate the risks that do

occur

• Working closely with Government and

various agencies and institutions to ensure

that there is a clear understanding of

Enterprise Ireland’s goals and support for

the Agency’s strategies to achieve those

goals

• Carrying out regular reviews of strategic

plans both short and long term and evalu-

ating the risks to bringing those plans to

fruition

• Setting annual and longer term targets for

each area of our business followed by the

regular reporting on the results achieved 

• Establishing and enforcing extensive

standard procedures and provisions under

which financial assistance may be made

available to projects, including provisions

requiring repayment if the project does not

fulfil commitments made by the promoter

The system of internal financial control is

based on a framework of regular manage-

ment information, administrative procedures

including segregation of duties, and a system

of delegation and accountability. In particular

it includes: 

• A comprehensive budgeting system with

an annual budget which is reviewed and

agreed by the Board of Directors

• Regular reviews by the Board of Directors

of periodic and annual financial reports

which indicate financial performance

against forecasts

• Setting targets to measure financial and

other performances

• Clearly defined capital investment control

guidelines

• Formal project management disciplines

Enterprise Ireland has an internal audit

department, currently staffed by a team made

up of resources outsourced from a firm of

accountants together with an experienced

Enterprise Ireland manager. This department

operates in accordance with the Internal Audit

Charter approved by the Audit Committee of

the Board. This committee meets on a

quarterly basis to review reports prepared by

Internal Audit and other departments. The

Audit Committee reports regularly to the

Board in relation to the matters that it has

considered. 

The internal audit function operates in accor-

dance with the Framework Code of Best

Practice set out in the Code of Practice on the

Governance of State Bodies. A rolling three-

year Internal Audit Strategic Audit Plan is

approved by the Audit Committee and revised

annually where required. The current work

plan takes account of areas of potential risk

identified in a risk assessment exercise

carried out with management at the start 

of the current planning cycle. The Internal

Auditor provides the Committee with

quarterly reports on assignments carried out.

These reports highlight deficiencies or

weaknesses, if any, in the system of internal

financial control and the recommended

corrective measures to be taken where neces-

sary. The Audit Committee receives a

quarterly Management report on the status of

issues raised by the Internal Audit. Internal

Audit reviews this report regularly.

I confirm that, in respect of the year to 31

December 2003, the Board conducted a review

of the system of internal financial controls.

The Board’s monitoring and review of the

effectiveness of the system of internal finan-

cial control is informed by the work of the

Internal Auditor; the Audit Committee, which

oversees the work of the Internal Auditor; the

executive managers within Enterprise Ireland

who have responsibility for the development

and maintenance of the financial control

framework; and comments made by the

Comptroller and Auditor General in his

management letter.

Statement on the System of Internal Financial Control
For the year ended 31 December 2003

On behalf of the Board of Enterprise Ireland:

Patrick J Molloy, Chairman
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The basis of accounting and significant

accounting policies adopted by Enterprise

Ireland are as follows:

(a) Basis of Accounting

The financial statements have been prepared

under the historical cost convention and in the

form approved by the Minister for Enterprise,

Trade and Employment with the concurrence

of the Minister for Finance under the Industrial

Development (Enterprise Ireland) Act, 1998. 

The financial statements have been prepared

on an accruals basis, except as stated below

and in accordance with Generally Accepted

Accounting Practice. Financial Reporting

Standards recommended by the recognised

accountancy bodies are adopted as they

become applicable.

Income Recognition

The following income categories are on a cash

basis:

• Oireachtas Grants 

• Seed and Venture Capital Funds

• Financial Support Refunds

• Dividends

• Factory Rental Income 

• Bank Deposit Interest

• Programmes in Advanced Technology Fee

Income

• Proceeds from Sale of Fixed Assets

(b) Superannuation

Legislation requires Forfás to prepare and

administer pension schemes for the granting

of pension entitlements to its staff including

staff seconded to Enterprise Ireland.

Certain voluntary early retirement costs paid

directly by Enterprise Ireland and all pension

contributions deducted from staff in contribu-

tory unfunded schemes are accounted for in

the Income and Expenditure Account in the

period in which they arise.

(c) Leases

Rentals under operating leases are dealt with

in the financial statements as they fall due.

(d) Foreign Currencies

The financial statements are expressed in

euro.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in

foreign currencies are translated at the

exchange rates ruling at the Balance Sheet

date. Transactions in foreign currencies are

translated at the exchange rates ruling at the

dates of the underlying transactions. The

resulting profits or losses are dealt with in the

Income and Expenditure Account.

(e) Investments

Quoted Investments

Investments listed on a recognised stock

exchange are stated at the lower of cost or net

realisable value. Where the reasons for previ-

ous provisions in respect of diminution in

value have ceased to apply, those provisions

are reversed. The market valuation of the

quoted portfolio is disclosed in Note 14.

Other Investments

Other investments are stated at the lower of

cost or net realisable value, based on manage-

ment’s assessment and a review process

using the latest available audited or manage-

ment accounts of the investee companies or

other relevant business information. Where

the reasons for previous provisions in respect

of diminution in value have ceased to apply,

those provisions are reversed. Where manage-

ment’s assessment of the value of investments

is nil, due to insolvency or otherwise, these

investments have been written off.

Investment in Subsidiary 

Maison D’Irlande SARL is a wholly owned

subsidiary of Enterprise Ireland. The invest-

ment in the subsidiary is stated at cost and is

included in the Financial Fixed Assets in the

Balance Sheet. The results of the subsidiary

have not been consolidated with those of

Enterprise Ireland as it is considered more

appropriate in the interests of clarity and on

the basis of materiality to account separately

for the activities of this company.

Seed and Venture Capital Funds

Advances to these funds are reported at the

lower of cost or net realisable value based on

Fund Managers’ Valuations. The guidelines

followed by the Fund Managers in arriving at

the valuations are in accordance with the

valuation principles of the European and the

Irish Venture Capital Associations. Where the

reasons for previous provisions in respect of

diminution in value have ceased to apply,

those provisions are reversed.

Gains and Losses

Realised gains and losses and provision for

change in value of investments are recognised

in the Income and Expenditure Account. 

Consolidation

The financial statements do not reflect a

consolidation of the results of investee

companies. Enterprise Ireland is of the opinion

that such a consolidation would be mislead-

ing, having regard to the diverse nature of

businesses of the companies involved and to

its general duty to prepare financial state-

ments which give a true and fair view of its

industrial promotion activities.

(f) Repayable Financial Support to

Industry

The amount recoverable in respect of

repayable financial support to industry is

reflected in the Balance Sheet as Financial

Incentive Assets and the related funding is

included in the State Advances Account. A

specific provision is maintained in the Income

& Expenditure Account to provide for possible

shortfalls and doubtful debts.

The repayable financial supports to industry

are as follows:

Targeted Marketing Consultancy (TMC)

Programme

A proportion of financial incentives support

under the TMC Programme is recoverable

based on the sales performance of companies

assisted. The amounts advanced are recov-

ered over a 24 to 60 month period by way of a

levy based on the sales achieved by the TMC

expenditure.

Research & Development and Capital

Financial Support

Certain Research & Development and Capital

Financial Support agreements have a

repayable clause allowing for part of the finan-

cial support to be recovered.

(g) State Advances Account

The State Advances Account represents the

amount of current income allocated by

Enterprise Ireland to fund monies advanced to

Accounting Policies
As at 31 December 2003
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client companies by way of repayable financial

support, and which is still outstanding, less a

provision for shortfalls and doubtful debts.

(h) Tangible Fixed Assets

Tangible fixed assets, including Programmes

in Advanced Technologies (PAT’s) tangible

fixed assets, are stated at cost less accumu-

lated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated

in order to write off the cost of tangible fixed

assets on a straight line basis over their

estimated useful lives as follows:

(i) Motor Vehicles 20% 

(ii) New Buildings 4% 

(iii) Refurbishment  

to Existing Buildings 4%– 20%

(iv) Fixtures & Fittings 25%

(v) Computers 33%

Fixtures, Fittings & Computers (excluding

PATs) below the capitalisation threshold are

expended in the Income and Expenditure

Account in the year of purchase.

(i) Provision for Doubtful Debts

Trade Debtors

Doubtful debts are provided for by way of a

specific provision. 

Accounting Policies  (continued)

As at 31 December 2003



2003 2002
Notes €'000 €'000

Income

Exchequer Funding

Oireachtas Grants 1 214,249 227,290 

Other Funding

Own Resources 2 15,327 16,120 

Profit on Disposal of Fixed Assets (net) 7 5,571 5,012 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Total Income 235,147 248,422 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Expenditure

Financial Support to Industry 3 110,525 120,900 

Administration, Operation and Promotion 4 93,106 95,621 

Diminution in Value of Fixed Assets 5 25,840 46,810 

Diminution in Value of Financial Incentive Assets 6 583 3,357 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Total Expenditure 230,054 266,688 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Surplus / (Deficit) before Appropriations 5,093 (18,266)

Appropriations

Contribution to Exchequer 8 (265) (239)

Contribution from other Organisations 9 631 355 

Transfer (to) / from Capital  Account 10 (7,669) 11,790 

Transfer from State Advances Account 11 1,601 7,827 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

(Deficit) / Surplus after Appropriations (609) 1,467 

Balance Brought Forward at Start of Year 8,385 6,918 

–––––––––– ––––––––––
Balance Carried Forward at End of Year 7,776 8,385 

–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

Amounts shown under Income and Expenditure are in respect of continuing activities.

There are no recognised gains or losses, other than those dealt with in the Income and Expenditure Account.

The Accounting Policies, Cashflow Statement, Notes 1 to 21 and Appendix 1 form part of these financial statements.

Income and Expenditure Account
For year ended 31 December 2003
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2003 2002
Notes €'000 €'000

Fixed Assets

Tangible 13 22,299 22,286 

Financial 14 183,301 175,645 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Total Fixed Assets 205,600 197,931 

Financial  Incentive  Assets 15 2,459 4,060 

Current Assets

Debtors 16 8,829 12,520 

Cash at bank and in hand 10,413 12,958 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

19,242 25,478 

Current Liabilities

Creditors (Amounts falling due within one year) 17 11,466 17,093 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Net Current Assets 7,776 8,385 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Total Net Assets 215,835 210,376 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Representing

Capital Account 10 205,600 197,931 

State  Advances Account 11 2,459 4,060 

Income and Expenditure Account 7,776 8,385 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

215,835 210,376 
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

The Accounting Policies, Cashflow Statement, Notes 1 to 21 and Appendix 1 form part of these financial statements.

Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2003

On behalf of the Board of Enterprise Ireland:

Patrick J Molloy, Chairman Frank Ryan, Chief Executive Officer
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2003 2002
€'000 €'000

Reconciliation of Net Movement for the Year 

to Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities

Excess Income over Expenditure / (Expenditure over Income) 5,093 (18,266)

Bank Interest (115) (239)

Dividends (1,844) (1,717)

Diminution in Value of Fixed Assets 25,840 46,810 

(Profit) on Disposal of Tangible Fixed Assets (118) (34)

(Profit) on Disposal of Financial Fixed Assets (5,453) (4,978)

Decrease in Financial Incentive Assets 1,601 7,827

Decrease in Debtors 3,691 3,236

(Decrease) in Creditors  (5,627) (5,983)
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities 23,068 26,656
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

Cash Flow Statement

Net Cash Inflow  from Operating Activities 23,068 26,656

Contribution to Exchequer (265) (239)

Contribution from other Organisations 631 355

Returns on Investments and Servicing of Finance

Bank Interest received 115 239

Dividends received 1,844 1,717
–––––––––– ––––––––––

25,393 28,728 

Investing Activities

Payments to acquire Fixed Assets

Tangible (3,292) (4,360)

Financial:

Investments (22,774) (16,916)

Seed and Venture Capital Fund (14,520) (20,805)

Receipts from disposal of Fixed Assets

Tangible 156 48

Financial: Investments in Shares 12,492 12,025
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Net Cash Outflow from Investing Activities (27,938) (30,008)
–––––––––– ––––––––––

(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (2,545) (1,280)
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movement in Net Funds

Net Funds at 31 December 10,413 12,958

Net Funds at 1 January 12,958 14,238
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Movement in Net Funds in the Year (2,545) (1,280)
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

The Accounting Policies, Cashflow Statement, Notes 1 to 21 and Appendix 1 form part of these financial statements.

On behalf of the Board of Enterprise Ireland:

Patrick J Molloy, Chairman Frank Ryan, Chief Executive Officer
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1 Exchequer Funding

Oireachtas Grants

(a) Under Section 35 of the Industrial Development (Science Foundation Ireland) Act 2003, the aggregate amount of grants made by the Minister

to Forfás and its Agencies to enable them to discharge their capital obligations and liabilities shall not exceed €3.4 billion. At 31 December 2003

the aggregate amount made available to the three Agencies was €2.007 billion (2002– €1.822 billion) of which Enterprise Ireland and the former

Forbairt received €613.563m (2002– €564.120m).

(b) Under Section 14(3) of the Industrial Development Act 1986, the aggregate amount of grants made by the Minister to Forfás and its Agencies

to enable them to meet their obligations and liabilities in respect of principal and interest on foot of Loan Guarantees under that Act and under

Section 37 of the Industrial Development Act 1969 , Sections 2 and 3 of the Industrial Development Act 1977, shall not exceed €159m . At 

31 December 2003 the aggregate amount so provided was €13.547m (2002– €13.547m), all of which related to Enterprise Ireland clients.

The Oireachtas Grants as shown in the financial statements consist of:

2003 2002
Notes €'000 €'000

Grant for Capital Grants, Loan Guarantees, etc (i) 49,443 66,895 

Grant for Promotion and Administration Expenditure 84,745 84,100 

Grant for Capital Equipment 3,110 3,283 

Grant for Irish Energy Centre 0 2,115 

National Training Fund 4,000 6,000 

e Business Acceleration Fund 0 3,581 

eBIT Initiative 1,008 0

Science & Technology Development Programme 71,943 61,202 

Enterprise 2000 Fund / Seed & Venture Capital Fund 0 114 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

214,249 227,290 
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

(i) Grant for Capital Grants, Loan Guarantees, etc.

Included in Grants for Capital Grants is an amount of €13.645m (2002– €19.545m) which was allocated for funding the Seed and Venture Capital

Funds (Note 10b).

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2003



2 Own Resources

2003 2002
Notes €'000 €'000

Financial Support Refunds 2,201 1,096 

Dividends 2 (a) 1,844 1,717 

Professional Fee Income 2 (b) 5,645 6,759 

Programmes in Advanced Technology Fee Income 2 (c) 687 1,508 

Rental Income 2 (d) 2,852 3,480 

Other Income 2 (e) 2,098 1,560 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

15,327 16,120 
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

a) Dividends

Quoted Investments 490 79 

Other Investments 1,354 1,638 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

1,844 1,717 
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

b) Professional Fee Income

Professional Services 2,945 4,274 

Market Project Income 2,700 2,485 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

5,645 6,759
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

Income under this heading includes amounts received for Research Work, Tests, Investigations, Market Projects and Consultancy undertaken on

behalf of clients.

c) Programmes in Advanced Technology (PAT) Fee Income

PATS’s Fee Income in 2003 is lower than in 2002 as a result of the continuing implementation of the new funding arrangements for the PAT

Programmes.

d) Rental Income

2003 2002
€'000 €'000

Factory Rents 0 325 

Office Sub-Lettings 2,852 3,155 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

2,852 3,480 
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

e) Other Income

Sale of Publications and Advertising / Subscriptions 414 306 

Bank Deposit Interest 115 239 

Seed & Venture Capital Fund Net Income 10 64 

Contribution to Central Overheads by Other Organisations 586 500 

Other 973 451 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

2,098 1,560 
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

Notes to the Financial Statements  (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2003
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3 Financial Support to Industry

2003 2002
Notes €'000 €'000

i) Company Development

Employment 4,227 5,484 

Fixed Asset Support 3,736 5,476 

Marketing Support 7,371 9,822

R & D (including Feasibility) 6,866 5,825 

Management Development 3 (b) 1,667 2,297 

Training 3 (b) 3,925 3,802 

eBusiness Acceleration Fund 0 4,441

eBIT Initiative 1,004 0

Incubator Units 775 2,408

Webworks 32 0

Community Enterprise Centres 3,394 4,365 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

32,997 43,920 

ii) Third Parties

Oireachtas Grant transferred to SFADCo 3 (c) 2,801 4,800 

Business Innovation Centres 2,486 3,805 

Craft Council of Ireland 2,333 2,561 

National Institute of Transport Logistics (NITL) 1,559 1,559

Cork Water Subsidy 3 (d) 5,630 1,096 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

14,809 13,821 

iii) Science & Technology Development

RTI Collaboration - Programmes in Advanced Technology 3 (e) 22,230 21,603 

RTI Collaboration - Basic Research 3 (f) 9,851 9,251 

RTI for Industry 3 (g) 22,995 23,858 

RTI Infrastructure 3 (h) 7,643 8,460 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

62,719 63,172 

iv) Other Financial Support

International Fund for Ireland 0 18 

Specific Measures (Operational Programme 1994 – 1999) 0 (10)

Small Business Operational Programme 0 (21)

–––––––––– ––––––––––
0 (13)

Total for Financial Support to Industry Charged to Income and Expenditure Account 110,525 120,900 
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

Financial Support to Industry capitalised on the Balance Sheet

Investments in Shares 3 (i) 22,774 16,916 

Seed & Venture Capital Funds 14,520 20,805 

TMC Marketing Support Programme 3 (j) (41) (1,100)

–––––––––– ––––––––––
Total Financial Support to Industry 147,778 157,521 

–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

Notes to the Financial Statements  (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2003



a) Disbursements To Other State Agencies

The amount of €147.778m for financial support to industry includes disbursements to other State Agencies in the amount of €7.635m.

These are detailed as follows:

Notes Údarás na IDA SFADCo Total
Gaeltachta Ireland 
€ '000 € '000 € '000 € '000

eBIT Initiative 10 0 49 59

Oireachtas Grant transferred to SFADCo 3 (f) 0 0 2,801 2,801

RTI for Industry 0 2,575 2,200 4,775
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

10 2,575 5,050 7,635 
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

b) Management Development & Training

That portion of expenditure in this category which meets European Social Fund eligibility criteria will be submitted by Enterprise Ireland to the

Managing Authority for the Human Resources Operational Programme 2000 - 2006, within the Department of Enterprise, Trade & Employment, for

co-funding.

c) Oireachtas Grant transferred to SFADCo

Shannon Free Airport Development Company Ltd (SFADCo) acts under an agency agreement in respect of the administration and payment of

financial support and investments to designated client companies located in the Mid-West Region. The transfer of funds to SFADCo is recorded

in these financial statements. The disbursement of funds to client companies is accounted for in the financial statements of SFADCo. During the

year Enterprise Ireland advanced €2.801m (2002 – €4.800m).

d) Cork Water Subsidy

The Cork Water Subsidy reflects payments made under Government directive. In 2003, Enterprise Ireland made full and final settlement under

this Directive.

e) Research, Technology and Innovation - Collaboration (Programmes in Advanced Technology)

Programmes in Advanced Technology have been established in six niche areas as follows: Advanced Manufacturing Technology, Biotechnology,

Optronics, Informatics, Power Electronics and  Advanced Materials. They are designed to develop and transfer leading-edge technologies. The

Expenditure figure of €22.230m (2002– €21.603m) includes €5.557m (2002 – €6.357m) for payroll costs. That portion of expenditure in this category

which meets European Regional Development Fund eligibility criteria will be submitted by Enterprise Ireland to the Managing Authority for the

Productive Sector Operational Programme 2000 – 2006, within the Department of Enterprise, Trade & Employment, for co-funding. A new model

for the PAT came into being in 2001/2002. Costs now consist of direct payroll costs, service grant agreements and research grants. Under the

new model, the management of the PAT centres and the responsibility of raising and collecting income transfers to the relevant Institution.

f) Research , Technology and Innovation (RTI) Collaboration – Basic Research

This measure provides financial support for research projects in a wide range of areas, leading to the training of high quality postgraduate

researchers in research and analytical skills.

g) Research , Technology and Innovation (RTI) for Industry

This measure  is designed to improve the level and quality of research and development undertaken by companies in Ireland by co-funding 

projects to be carried out directly by them. That portion of expenditure in this category which meets European Regional Development Fund 

eligibility criteria will be submitted by Enterprise Ireland to the Managing Authority for the Productive Sector Operational Programme 

2000 – 2006, within the Department of Enterprise, Trade & Employment, for co-funding.

Notes to the Financial Statements  (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2003
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h) Research, Technology and Innovation (RTI) Infrastructure

This measure provides financial support for enterprise infrastructure, based on incubator/applied research space associated with the Institutes

of Technology in Ireland. It is designed to increase the creation of companies from research and also to encourage direct interaction between

the Institutes and companies located close to them. That portion of expenditure in this category which meets European Regional Development

Fund eligibility criteria will be submitted by Enterprise Ireland to the Managing Authorities for the South and East and BMW Regional 

Operational Programmes 2000 – 2006 for co-funding. These Managing Authorities are located in the Border, Midlands and Western Regional

Assembly and the Southern and Eastern Regional Assembly.

i) Investments in Shares

The Investments in Shares refer to investments in 102 undertakings (2002–97).

j) TMC Marketing Support Programme

Approvals under the TMC Marketing Support Programme ceased on 31 December 1999. The net credit of €41,000 represents the reduction in a

previous provision in respect of TMC grants.

Notes to the Financial Statements  (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2003



4 Administration, Operation and Promotion

2003 2002
Notes €'000 €'000

Remuneration and Other Pay Costs 4 (a) 59,804 58,909 

Library Services and Other Client Related Costs 2,145 1,871 

Rents, Rates , Service Charges & Insurance 9,958 9,759 

Travelling Expenses 5,672 6,960 

Postage & Stationery 2,041 2,161 

Communication & IT Costs 3,920 4,922 

Repairs, Maintenance & Leasing Charges 1,589 1,453 

Light, Heat & Cleaning 1,307 1,238 

Board Members' Emoluments 430 376 

Professional Fees 3,006 4,398 

Audit Fee 60 55 

Tangible Fixed Assets Below Capitalisation Threshold 713 608 

Other Operating Expenses 2,461 2,911 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

93,106 95,621 
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

a) Remuneration and Other Pay Costs

Remuneration and Other Pay Costs for all employees and pensioners comprise:

2003 2002
Notes €'000 €'000

Salaries and Pensions 4 (b) 53,252 51,224 

Voluntary Early Retirement Scheme Superannuation lump sums 4 (c) 165 842 

Other Pay Costs:

Employer's Contribution to Social Welfare 2,261 1,961 

Employer's Contribution to Pension Schemes 690 652 

Other Staff Related Costs 3,436 4,230 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

59,804 58,909 
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

b) Salaries & Pensions

The Salaries and Pensions figure of €53.252m (2002– €51.224m) reflects the impact of increases arising from Benchmarking, from local cost of 

living awards paid to overeas based staff, from annual increment and merit awards and from cost reductions arising from the Voluntary Early

Retirement Scheme.

c) Voluntary Early Retirement Scheme Superannuation Lump Sums

Enterprise Ireland introduced a Voluntary Early Retirement scheme in 2001. In 2003, some additional members of staff retired under this scheme

and  the net cost of their superannuation lump sums amounted to €0.165m (2002– €0.842m). In addition the cost of the related pension entitle-

ments, which Enterprise Ireland pays, is included in Salaries and Pensions.

Enterprise Ireland continues to pay pension entitlements under the Voluntary Early Retirement scheme introduced by Forbairt in 1996. The cost 

of these related pensions, which Enterprise Ireland pays, is included in Salaries and Pensions.During the year there were no superannuation

lump sums paid under this scheme. 
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d) Superannuation

Under the Industrial Development Acts, 1986-1998, staff working in Enterprise Ireland are seconded from Forfás. Under Paragraph 3 of the 2nd

Schedule of the Industrial Development Act, 1993, responsibility for all pension entitlements rests with Forfás. Forfás is also responsible for

pension reporting requirements including those set out under FRS17.

Scheme Staff Covered Type

Forfás Staff recruited by Forfás after 5 April 1995 Unfunded Defined Benefit both

Contributory and Non Contributory

Former IDA Former IDA staff and those recruited by Forfás in the Contributory Defined Benefit funded to meet

appropriate grades between 1 January 1994 and 5 April 1995 pension costs at retirement. Post retirement

increases unfunded and met by Forfás

Former Eolas Former Eolas staff and those recruited by Forfás in the Unfunded Non Contributory Defined Benefit

appropriate grades between 1 January 1994 and 5 April 1995

Former National Board of A small number of former NBST staff serving on Unfunded Contributory Defined Benefit

Science & Technology 31 December 1987 

Former Irish Goods Council A small number of former Irish Goods Council staff Funded Contributory Defined Benefit

serving on 31 August 1991 

Former An Bord Tráchtála Former An Bord Tráchtála staff (other than those covered Unfunded Contributory Defined Benefit

by the Irish Goods Council scheme above) who were 

pensionable employees on 23 July 1998

5 Diminution in Value of Fixed Assets

2003 2002
Notes €'000 €'000

Depreciation of Tangible Fixed Assets 13(a) 13(b) 3,241 3,101

Provision for the Diminution in the Value of Investments 14(a) 8,557 23,447

Provision for the Diminution in the Value of 

Seed and Venture Capital Funds 14(b) 14,042 20,262
–––––––––– ––––––––––

25,840 46,810
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

6 Diminution in Value of Financial Incentive Assets

2003 2002
Notes €'000 €'000

Shortfalls for the Year 15 2,140 2,558 

Movement in Provision for Shortfalls for the Year 15 (1,557) 799 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

583 3,357 
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––
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7 Profit on Disposal of Fixed Assets (net)

The profit on disposal of Fixed Assets comprises:

2003 2002

Net Book Sale Profit on Net Book Sale Profit on
Amount Proceeds Disposal Amount Proceeds Disposal
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Tangible Fixed Assets 38 156 118 14 48 34 

Financial Fixed Assets:

Investments in Shares 6,722 11,642 4,920 7,047 12,025 4,978 

Seed & Venture Capital Funds 317 850 533 0 0 0
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

7,077 12,648 5,571 7,061 12,073 5,012 
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

8 Contribution to Exchequer

The contribution to the Exchequer amounted to €0.265m (2002 – €0.239m) being monies paid back to the Exchequer in respect of Investments

that did not take place.The contribution is analysed as follows:

2003 2002
€'000 €'000

Refund in respect of the eBusiness Acceleration Fund 0 239

Investments in Companies that did not go ahead 265 0
–––––––––– ––––––––––

265 239 
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

9 Contributions from /(to) Other Organisations

2003 2002
Notes €'000 €'000

National Standards Authority of Ireland (NSAI) 9 (a) 631 1,131

Sustainable Energy Ireland (SEI) – Formerly Irish Energy Centre 9 (b) 0 (776)
–––––––––– ––––––––––

631 355
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

a) NSAI

This represents a transfer in grant that NSAI receive for pay and other costs, including capital expenditure, relating to the National Metrology

Laboratory (NML).

b) SEI

The figure for 2002 represents a refund from Enterprise Ireland to Sustainable Energy Ireland in respect of Grant in Aid drawn down by

Enterprise Ireland for the Irish Energy Centre in advance of the establishment of SEI on 1 May 2002. The Irish Energy Centre ceased to exist 

as a division from that date and hence no contributions arise in 2003.

10 Capital Account

a) Capital Account
2003 2002

Notes €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Opening Balance 197,931 209,721 

Net Movements on :

Tangible Fixed Assets 12 1,245 

Investments in Shares 7,496 (13,578)

Seed & Venture Capital Funds 10 (b) 161 543 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Transfer from / (to) Income and Expenditure Account 7,669 (11,790)

–––––––––– ––––––––––
Closing Balance 205,600 197,931 

–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––
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b) Seed & Venture Capital Funds

2003 2002
Notes €'000 €'000

Exchequer Contribution to Seed & Venture Capital Funds 0 114

Add: Dividend Income for Year 0 6

Add: Bank Deposit Interest for Year 10 58 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Amount credited to Income & Expenditure Account 10 178 

Amount allocated to Seed & Venture Capital Funds 

from Oireachtas Grant 1 (i) 13,645 19,545 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

13,655 19,723 

Proceeds from Disposals of Investments 850 0
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Total Amount Available for Investment in 

Seed & Venture Capital Funds 14,505 19,723 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Additions to Seed & Venture Capital Funds 14 (b) 14,520 20,805 

Original Cost of Disposals 14 (b) (317) (485)

Provision for Diminution in Value 14 (b) (14,042) (19,777)
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Net Movement on Seed and Venture Capital Funds 161 543 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Opening Cash at Bank 15 1,097 

Income 14,505 19,723 

Expenditure (14,520) (20,805)
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Closing Cash at Bank 0 15 
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

11 State Advances Account

2003 2002
Notes €'000 €'000

Opening Balance 4,060 11,887 

Transfer to Income and Expenditure Account in respect of 

Financial Incentive Assets 15 (1,601) (7,827)
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Closing Balance 2,459 4,060 
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

12 Taxation

Enterprise Ireland is not liable to corporate taxes in Ireland or in the countries in which it operates because it is a non commercial State 

sponsored body. Its bank interest and rental income are exempt from taxation under section 227, Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997.

It is liable to employer taxes in Ireland and complies with related withholding, reporting and payment obligations. In some countries in which 

it operates, an exemption from local taxation has been availed of under the Governmental Services article of the relevant double taxation 

agreement or local tax legislation. This position is currently being reviewed by Enterprise Ireland and confirmation of this exemption is being

requested from the relevant tax authorities in the jurisdictions where this exemption has been availed of. While some positive responses have

been received the confirmation process is ongoing. This confirmation process may result in a liability to employer/employee taxes in some juris-

dictions. At the balance sheet date it was not possible to make a reliable estimate of these contingent liabilities. As a result , no provision in

respect of such taxes has been included in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2003. 
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13 Tangible Fixed Assets

Notes Cost Accumulated Net Book Net Book
Depreciation Amount Amount

2003 2002
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Tangible Fixed Assets 13 (a) 46,248 24,436 21,812 21,452 

PATs Tangible Fixed Assets 13 (b) 31,245 30,758 487 834 
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

77,493 55,194 22,299 22,286 
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

a) Tangible Fixed Assets
Buildings Motor Vehicles Fixtures, Fittings Total

& Computers
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Cost

At 1 January 2003 36,373 99 7,217 43,689 

Additions 2,519 52 562 3,133

Disposals (8) (48) (518) (574)
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

At 31 December 2003 38,884 103 7,261 46,248
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Depreciation

At 1 January 2003 16,416 81 5,740 22,237

Charge for Year 2,104 16 618 2,738

Disposals (1) (47) (491) (539)
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

At 31 December 2003 18,519 50 5,867 24,436
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Net Book Amount

At 31 December 2003 20,365 53 1,394 21,812
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

At 31 December 2002 19,957 18 1,477 21,452
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

b) PAT’s Tangible Fixed Assets
Buildings Motor Vehicles Fixtures, Fittings Total

& Computers
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Cost

At 1 January 2003 1,746 11 29,793 31,550

Additions 0 0 159 159

Disposals 0 0 (464) (464)
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

At 31 December 2003 1,746 11 29,488 31,245
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Depreciation

At 1 January 2003 1,322 11 29,383 30,716

Charge for Year 187 0 316 503

Disposals 0 0 (461) (461)
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

At 31 December 2003 1,509 11 29,238 30,758
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Net Book Amount

At 31 December 2003 237 0 250 487
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

At 31 December 2002 424 0 410 834
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Notes to the Financial Statements  (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2003

Page 84  Enterprise Ireland Annual Report & Accounts 2003



Enterprise Ireland Annual Report & Accounts 2003  Page 85

14 Financial Fixed Assets

2003 2002
Notes €'000 €'000

Investments in Shares 14 (a) 105,647 98,152 

Seed and Venture Capital Funds 14 (b) 77,654 77,493 
–––––––––– ––––––––––

Total Financial Fixed Assets 183,301 175,645 
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

a) Investments in Shares
Quoted Other Investment Total

Investments Investments in Subsidiary
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Cost

At 1 January 2003 3,848 148,677 6 152,531

Additions 0 22,774 0 22,774

Disposals and Write-Offs 0 (8,663) 0 (8,663)
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

At 31 December 2003 3,848 162,788 6 166,642 
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Provision for Diminution in Value

At 1 January 2003 402 53,977 0 54,379

Movement in Year 0 8,557 0 8,557

Write back on Disposals and Write-Offs 0 (1,941) 0 (1,941)
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

At 31 December 2003 402 60,593 0 60,995 
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Net Book Amount

At 31 December 2003 3,446 102,195 6 105,647 
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

At 31 December 2002 3,446 94,700 6 98,152 
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

b) Seed and Venture Capital Funds

Enterprise Ireland makes funds available under Section 6 of the Industrial Development Act, 1995 for Seed and Venture capital to assist enter-

prises to expand and develop new activities or introduce innovations or new technologies. The advances by Enterprise Ireland are transmitted to

investment undertakings and combined with private sector funding. Each such fund is managed by an Investment Manager. Amounts provided

by the Department of Enterprise, Trade and Employment are funded by the EU and Exchequer. The outturn for the year was as follows:

2003 2002
€'000 €'000

Cost

At 1 January 106,305 85,985

Additions 14,520 20,805

Disposals (317) (485)
–––––––––– ––––––––––

At 31 December 120,508 106,305
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

Provision for Diminution in Value

At 1 January 28,812 9,035

Movement in Year 14,042 20,262

Write back on Disposals and Write-Offs 0 (485)
–––––––––– ––––––––––

At 31 December 42,854 28,812
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

Net Book Amount

At 31 December 77,654 77,493
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––
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c) Quoted Investments

The market value of the quoted investments held at 31 December 2003 was €29.069m  (2002 – €12.748m). 

The market value of the quoted investments held at 12 May 2004 was €25.061m. 

A schedule of the Investments at cost at 31 December 2003 showing individual amounts in excess of  €0.635m is disclosed in Appendix 1.

d) Investment in Subsidiary

The Investment in Subsidiary of €6,000 refers to the 100% shareholding in Maison D’Irlande SARL, a French company established to manage the

Ireland House (Maison D’Irlande) property in Paris.

15 Financial Incentive Assets
TMC R&D Capital Provision for Total

Financial Support Shortfalls and
Write-offs

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Opening balance as at 1 January 2003 7,288 1,704 (4,932) 4,060

Recoverable Incentives cancelled (41) 0 0 (41)

Recoverable Incentives invoiced to Companies (925) (52) 0 (977)

Shortfalls for the year (2,140) 0 0 (2,140)

Provision for the year 0 0 1,557 1,557
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Net Movement for the Year  (3,106) (52) 1,557 (1,601)
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Closing balance as at 31 December 2003 4,182 1,652 (3,375) 2,459
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

16 Debtors

2003 2002
€'000 €'000

Amounts  falling due within one year :

Trade Debtors 5,273 9,260

Prepayments and Accrued Income 2,044 1,634

VAT Recoverable 922 1,194

Other Debtors 590 432
–––––––––– ––––––––––

8,829 12,520
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

17 Creditors

2003 2002
€'000 €'000

Amounts falling due within one year :

Trade Creditors 4,490 6,281

Taxation 372 1,315

Payroll  Deductions 52 (41)

Accruals 5,048 5,701

Financial Support Creditors and Accruals 668 2,056

EU Contract Deferred Income 326 1,316

Contribution to Exchequer 0 239

PATs Creditors (including EU Contract Deferred Income) 177 64

Other 333 162
–––––––––– ––––––––––

11,466 17,093
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––
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18 Commitments

a) Operating Leases

Payments made under Operating Leases on Buildings charged in the financial statements amounted to €7.242m (2002 – €7.167m). Payments

under Operating Leases on Buildings amounting to €7.766m (2002 – €7.216m) are due to be made in 2004.

These are in respect of leases which expire as follows:

2003 2002
€'000 €'000

Expiry of Lease:

Within One Year 944 1,846

One to Five Years 5,066 4,180

After Five Years 1,756 1,190
–––––––––– ––––––––––

7,766 7,216
–––––––––– –––––––––––––––––––– ––––––––––

b) Financial Support Commitments

It is estimated that future payments likely to arise from financial support commitments entered into under various support schemes, including

EU schemes, will amount to €467m  (2002 – €516m).

c) Seed & Venture Capital Funds

It is estimated that future payments likely to arise from Seed & Venture Capital Funds commitments entered into under various contractual

agreements will amount to €43m (2002 – €54m).

19 Board Members – Disclosure of Transactions

In the normal course of business, Enterprise Ireland may approve financial support and investments in preference and ordinary shares and enter

into other contractual arrangements with undertakings in which Enterprise Ireland Board members are employed or otherwise interested.

Enterprise Ireland adopted procedures in accordance with the guidelines issued by the Department of Finance in relation to the disclosure of

interests by Board members and those procedures have been adhered to by Enterprise Ireland during  the year.

Approval and payments of Financial Support and other transactions were made in the year to companies by which Board Members are employed

or otherwise associated.

These are detailed as follows:

2003 2002
€'000 €'000

Financial Support Approved 5,664 232 

Financial Support Paid 5,155 5,023 

Payments to Suppliers 1,220 1,151 

Income Received 276 584 

The Board members and Enterprise Ireland complied with the Department of Finance guidelines covering situations of personal interest. In

cases of potential conflict of interest, Board members did not receive Board documentation on the proposed transaction nor did the members

participate in or attend discussions relating to the matters. A schedule of these transactions is available on request.

20 Comparative Amounts

Certain comparative figures have been regrouped and restated on the same basis as those for the current year.

21 Approval of Financial Statements

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Enterprise Ireland on 12 May 2004.
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Company Activity Cost of Acquisition
€’000

Advanced Surgical Concepts Ltd Healthcare Products 820
AEP Systems Ltd E-Commerce Processor Boards 1,128
AM Beo Ltd Computer Software 950
Aran Technologies Ltd Telecommunications Software 763
Artic Web Ltd Internet Software 700
Aspect Software International Ltd Computer Software 667
C & F Tooling Ltd Engineering 741
Carbury Mushrooms Ltd Mushrooms 946
Chanelle Pharmaceutical Pharmaceuticals 982
Clearstream Technologies Ltd Medical Devices 650
Clubman Omega Ltd Shirt Making 698
Comnitel Technologies Telecommunications Software 1,609
Cork Plastics (Manufacturing) Plastic Pipes 889
Datalex Software 664
Eblana Phoyonics Ltd Laser Diodes 845
Fexco Financial Services 3,222
Fineos Corporation Ltd Software for European Insurance 2,192
Finsa Forest Product Chipboard Manufacture 3,174
Firecomms Ltd Optical Fibres 698
Ge World Ltd Software Systems 952
Glennon Bros Cork Ltd Sawmilling 2,539
Healy Manufacturing Ltd Hosiery 997
Horseware Products Ltd Horse Blankets 667
Interactive Services Ltd e-learning Software 686
J A Hickey & Co. Limited Children's Clothing 925
John Locke & Sons Whiskey Distilling 1,270
Lakeland Dairy Food Services Ltd Dairy Products 706
Lett Group Ltd Shellfish and Finfish Processing 1,143
Magnetic Solutions Limited Electronic Components 902
Mallon Technology Ltd Data Processing 711
Medentech Ltd Effervescent Steriliser Tablets 806
Michael H Limited Women's Outerwear 825
Microelectronics Development Service Ltd Communications Equipment 1,224
Microsol Control Systems for Refrigeration 872
Navan Carpets / Trenstat Limited Carpets & Rugs 1,492
Network 365 Ltd E-Commerce Shopping Mall 1,470
Nypro Waterford Ltd Inkjet Cartridges 1,905
Pentus Ltd Electronic Components 952
Performix Technologies Ltd Computer Software 952
Pleroma Ltd Mushrooms 3,263
Rothbury Manufacturing Ltd Mattress & Pillow Protectors 762
Scientific Systems Ltd Measuring & Control Devices 686
Sigma Wireless Mobile Communication Components 667
Spectel Group Ltd Voice Data Conferencing Systems 1,270
Tanco Engineering Co. Ltd Farm Machinery 635
Telekinesys Research Ltd Web Based Business Solutions 681
Transware Ltd Computer Software 635
Trinity Biotech Plc. Medical Instruments & Equipment 2,760
Trintech (Holdings) Ltd Credit Card Checking System 816
Tsunami Photonics Ltd TuneableLasers 700
Woodroe Ltd Timber Frame Housing 1,122
Xiam Ltd Telecommunications Software 762

59,093

Investments Less than € 0.635m 107,549
–––––––––––––

Total {See Note 14 (a)} 166,642
––––––––––––––––––––––––––
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Enterprise Ireland Office Network

Dublin

Glasnevin, Dublin 9. Tel. +(353 1) 808 2000/857 0000 Fax +(353 1) 808 2020

Merrion Hall, Strand Road, Sandymount, Dublin 4. Tel. +(353 1) 206 6000 Fax +(353 1) 206 6400

Wilton Park House, Wilton Place, Dublin 2. Tel. +(353 1) 808 2000/857 0000 Fax +(353 1) 808 2945

Web http://www.enterprise-ireland.com

Irish Regional Offices

Office Telephone Fax Address

Dublin/Mid East
Dublin +(353 1) 609 2150 +(353 1) 609 2111 39 Shelbourne Road, Dublin 4, Ireland

Midlands
Athlone +(353 90) 6487100  +(353 90) 6487101  Auburn, Dublin Road, Athlone, Co. Westmeath, Ireland

North East
Dundalk +(353 42) 935 4400 +(353 42) 935 4401 Finnabair Industrial Park, Dundalk, Co. Louth, Ireland

North West
Sligo +(353 71) 9159700 +(353 71) 9159701 Finisklin Business & Technology Park, Sligo, Ireland
Letterkenny +(353 74) 9169800 +(353 74) 9169801  Portland House, Port Road, Letterkenny, Co. Donegal, Ireland

South East
Waterford +(353 51) 333 500 +(353 51) 333 501 Waterford Ind. Park, Cork Road, Waterford, Ireland

South West
Cork +(353 21) 480 0200 +(353 21) 480 0271 Industry House, Rossa Avenue, Bishopstown, Cork, Ireland
Killarney +(353 64) 71600 +(353 64) 71601 57 High Street, Killarney, Co. Kerry, Ireland

West
Galway +(353 91) 735 900 +(353 91) 735 902 Mervue Business Park, Galway, Ireland

Market Offices

Amsterdam +(31 20) 676 3141 +(31 20) 671 6895 World Trade Center, Strawinskylaan 861, 1077 XX 
Amsterdam, Netherlands

Beijing +(86 10) 8448 8080 +(86 10) 8448 4282 c/o Commercial Section Embassy of Ireland, 
C612A Office Building, Beijing Lufthansa Centre, No: 50 
Liangmaqiao Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing 100016, China

Belfast +(44 28) 90347555 +(44 28) 90347550 3rd Floor, Chamber of Commerce House, 
22 Great Victoria Street, Belfast BT2 7LX

Berlin +(49 30) 220 72 104 +(49 30) 220 72 295 Botschaft von Irland, Friedrichstrasse 200, 10117 Berlin

Boston +(1 617) 342 7124 +(1 617) 342 7220 101 Federal Street, Suite 1900, Boston, MA 02110, USA

Brussels +(32 2) 673 9866 +(32 2) 672 10 66 Park Léopold, Rue Wiertz 50, Brussels 1050, Belgium

Budapest +(36 1) 302 9604 +(36 1) 302 9607 Bank Center, Szabadság tér 7, Budapest 1054, Hungary

Copenhagen +(45) 33 12 6090 +(45) 33 93 6390 Amagertorv 29B, 3. sal, Bankgården,
DK-1160 Copenhagen K, Denmark 

Dubai +(971 4) 331 4493 +(971 4) 331 2294 1301, 13th floor, Crowne Plaza Commercial Tower,
Sheikh Zayed Road, Dubai

continued overleaf >

http://www.enterprise-ireland.com
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Düsseldorf +(49 211) 470 590 +(49 211) 470 5932 Rolandstrasse 44, 40476 Düsseldorf, Germany

Glasgow +(44 141) 332 3015 +(44 141) 332 0254 10 Claremont Terrace, Glasgow G3 7XR, Scotland

Hong Kong +(852) 2845 1118 +(852) 2845 9240 Room 2107 Tower 2, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, 
Admiralty, Hong Kong

Kuala Lumpur +(60 3) 2164 0616/ +(60 3) 2164 0619 Ireland House, 5th Floor South Block, The Amp Walk,
0618 218 Jalan Ampang, 50450 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

London +(44 20) 7318 7600 +(44 20) 7318 7170 Ireland House, 150-151 New Bond St, London W1S 2TX, England

Los Angeles +(1 310) 453 8404 +(1 310) 453 8407 1620 26th Street, Suite 470 South, Santa Monica, CA 90404, USA

Madrid +(34 91) 436 4086 +(34 91) 435 6603 Casa de Irlanda, Paseo de la Castellana, 46,3rd floor, 
28046, Madrid, Spain

Milan +(39) 028800991 +(39) 028690243 Via S. Maria Segreta 6, 20123 Milano, Italy

Moscow +(7 095) 280 65 00 +(7 095) 230 27 63 c/o Commercial Section, Embassy of Ireland, 
+(7 095) 937 5943 Grokholski Pereulok 5, Moscow, Russia

Munich +(49 89) 57 95 91 17 +(49 89) 57 95 92 00 Regus Business Centre, Landsbergerstrasse 155, 
80687 Munich, Germany

New York +(1 212) 371 3600 +(1 212) 371 6398 Ireland House, 345 Park Avenue, 17th Floor, 
New York N.Y. 10154-0037, USA

Paris +(33 1) 53 43 1200 +(33 1) 47 42 8476 33 rue de Miromesnil, 75008 Paris, France

Prague +(420) 257 531 617 +(420) 257 532 224 Trziste13, 118 00 Prague 1, Czech Republic

Riyadh +(966 1) 488 1383 +(966 1) 488 1094 c/o Embassy of Ireland, P.O. Box 94349, Riyadh 11693, Saudi Arabia

Seoul +(82 2) 755 4967 +(82 2) 755 3969 15F Daehan Fire and Marine Insurance B/D 
51-1 Namchang-Dong, Chung-Ku, Seoul 100-778, Korea

Shanghai +(86 21) 6279 7088 +(86 21) 6279 7066 Commercial Section, Consulate General of Ireland, Suite 700A, 
Shanghai Centre, 1376 Nanjing Rd West, Shanghai 200040, China

Silicon Valley +(1 650) 329 1414 +(1 650) 329 1818 100 Hamilton Ave, Suite 130, Palo Alto, CA 94301, USA

Singapore +(65) 6733 2180 +(65) 6733 0291 Ireland House, 541 Orchard Road #08–00, 
Liat Towers, Singapore 238881

Stockholm +(46 8) 459 21 60 +(46 8) 661 75 95 Box 5737, Sibyllegatan 49, 114 87 Stockholm, Sweden

Sydney +(61 2) 8233 6214 +(61 2) 9231 6769 Level 30, 400 George Street, Sydney NSW 2000, Australia

Tokyo +(81 3) 3263 0611 +(81 3) 3263 0614 Ireland House, 2-10-7, Kojimachi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, 102-0083, Japan

Vienna +(43 1) 512 9685 30 +(43 1) 512 9685 40 Rotenturmstrasse 16-18/2, 1010 Vienna, Austria

Warsaw +(48 22) 646 9797 +(48 22) 646 5015 Humanska 10, 00-789 Warsaw, Poland

Washington +(1 202) 462 3939 +(1 202) 232 5993 Embassy of Ireland,
ext. 3097 2234 Massachusetts Ave, NW, Washington DC 20008, USA

Egypt/Greece/ +(353 1) 206 6405 +(353 1) 206 6397 Market Development Europe,
Israel/Turkey/ Merrion Hall, Strand Road, Sandymount, 
Balkans/Baltics Dublin 4, Ireland
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Selatra provides a service to host, 

deliver and manage java games on mobile

handsets for GSM operators, media 

organisations, telecommunications

companies and mobile content resellers. 

This innovative start-up began operations in September 2002, in Cork’s developing software hub, and has achieved exceptional

worldwide success. * In the first 11 months of 2003, Selatra generated €392,000 in revenue and its monthly compound growth rate

is hitting 30%. The company now has access to 300 million subscribers in 30 countries worldwide through their channel partners.

These markets are serviced by a network of sales agents and 105 distributors, of which 12 are network operators. * Selatra’s rapid

growth was critically well-timed. Through Enterprise Ireland’s help, the company completed a feasibility study for its software

services and invested in the R&D needed to create its commercially focused games platform that could compete in world markets.

Enterprise Ireland matched the company’s equity injection of €300,000 to facilitate the required R&D and contributed to the training

and international marketing efforts that helped the company penetrate export markets. * Once Selatra’s over-the-air delivery

technology (needed to deliver the games to handsets) was completed, the company launched its commercial prototype in the UK

and gained a first mover advantage in the that market. The website for its UK online brand, fonearcade, became the first site in the

UK to be exclusively dedicated to selling java games for mobile handsets, generating revenues in its first month of operation. The

platform has been continually enhanced since, in response to growing customer needs. * Selatra was founded by five experts in

mobile telecommunications, four of whom worked together in Logica and Alcatel. Selatra’s focus is global, with less than 2% of its

revenue coming from Ireland. The company could theoretically be located anywhere but it has chosen the National Software Centre

in Mahon, Cork for its headquarters and already employs 13 people directly.

*

*Selatra

www.selatra.com
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